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Society Chair Phil Teal (right) - pictured with Magnus 
Adlam and Dawn Metcalfe of Mighty River Power at one  
of the regular tree planting days - says the society’s 
initial impetus came from an unusual inspiration, the 
willow sawfly, which was slowly killing off the willow 
trees along the river banks.

“A planting programme was essential to prevent 
accelerated weed infestation and river bank erosion.  
It was decided to plant natives because, as well as being 
impervious to the sawfly, they will help transform the 
river into a wildlife corridor,” he says.

Phil says that while the society has so far planted over 
50,000 plants covering more than 12 kilometres of the 
120 kilometres between Hamilton and Port Waikato, 
there is still a long way to go. 

“As Sir Peter Blake said -’the hardest part of any big project 
is where to begin.‘ But with support from the outset from 
Mighty River Power and other sponsors, we’re starting to 
see results”, says Phil.

A RIVER RUNS 
THROUGH IT
Since 1999, Waikato RiverCare has worked to improve the health of the 
Waikato River between Hamilton and Port Waikato through a programme  
of native planting along the river bank. 





“The Waikato River is too good not to share. Mighty River 
Power’s support means we can open up this part of the 
countryside to people from around the world,” says 
Kelvin Hainsworth, the Trust’s Chief Executive, pictured 
right, with Mighty River Power’s Hydro Resources 
Manager Alan Hurcomb.

The track clearing and building work is done by the 
Mighty River Trackers along with volunteers from  
near and far. 

“The river provides not only energy for our homes and 
economy, but also a magnificent environment for our 
active recreation and enjoyment. This project is a real 
boost for our communities and there is a huge sense of 
pride in what has been achieved so far,” Kelvin says.

BLAZING  
A TRAIL
The Waikato River Trails Trust has a vision – to allow both locals and visitors  
to experience the beauty of the mighty Waikato River through the construction 
of 100km of riverside track for walking and cycling. 





CHAIR’S 
REPORT

I am pleased to report that Mighty 
River Power made good progress in 
the 2006/2007 financial year on most 
fronts. A satisfactory financial result. 
Very pleasing progress on our generation 
development projects. Very good efforts 
in the environmental and community 
areas. But before dealing with those 
matters, I wish to acknowledge first the 
impact on our retail business, Mercury 
Energy, of the tragic events surrounding 
the death of Mrs Folole Muliaga in late 
May. The Coroner has yet to issue his 
findings on these events. We apologised 
to the family and to the community for our 
part in this tragedy. I committed on behalf 
of the Company to do everything I could 
to ensure that the health and safety of 
our customers is protected. I can report 
that, even by the end of the financial year 
being reported on, a huge effort had 
already been put in by our dedicated staff 
to ensure this commitment was met.

The tragedy highlighted that we, and the 
industry as a whole, had work to do in 
ensuring our industry plays its part in 
eliminating risks to customer health and 
safety. The changes we made went beyond 
the Electricity Commission’s newly 
strengthened guidelines for vulnerable 
and medically dependent consumers. In 
changing our procedures we consulted 
widely with a number of budget, social and 
health agencies to develop initiatives to 
identify and help at-risk customers. We 
have renewed our commitment to our 
customers and their wider communities. 
We also know that the industry as a whole 
has sharpened its focus on these issues.

Turning to our financial results, it is 
pleasing that our net surplus after 
taxation was $112.4 million, an increase of 
$11.6 million over the prior year. We also 
had capital expenditure of $183.5 million 
which was a considerable increase on 
the prior year. We commenced work on 
the Kawerau Geothermal Power Station 
which, when complete, will deliver a new 
sustainable energy source in the Eastern 
Bay of Plenty area, contributing to the 
nation’s growing energy needs. Already 
the regional benefits of this project are 
significant, in terms of the jobs which 
have been created for local people, and 
the overall boost to the local economy. 
Construction is progressing well, and late 
next year we expect to be celebrating its 
completion.  Our other plans to expand 
our geothermal operations are also 
progressing well. Not only is investment 
in the geothermal space good for the 
Company, it is good for the country as 
a whole given that it is a reliable and 
fully renewable source of energy. It can 
provide power whether or not it rains 
and whether or not the wind is blowing.

We commissioned the new 45MW 
gas-fired turbine generator at the 
Southdown Cogeneration Station in 
Penrose. The new gas turbine generator 
adds further flexibility to the Southdown 
station. It can operate in periods of 
high consumer demand, or when 
weather-dependent renewable energy 
sources are not readily available. 

As a Company we pride ourselves on the 
strong and long-lasting relationships we 
have with people across our operating 
communities, who help us each day 
to make this Company what it is. Our 
commitment, as demonstrated by 
the many community initiatives and 
programmes we invest in every year, is 
to ensure our contribution to society 
goes beyond our core business as an 
electricity generator and retailer. 

I attended the opening of the new  
Waikato River Trails tracks in June, and 
found it a privilege to talk with the many 
enthusiastic people associated with this 
tremendous project. They are indicative  
of the hundreds of extraordinary people – 
including many of our own number – who 
devote their personal time to charitable 
programmes of work. These range from 
tree planting days to projects the size and 
scope of the Maungatautiri Ecological 
Island Trust. We will continue to explore 
the ways in which we can help those with 
aspirations to better our communities. 
This includes supporting talented people 
to realise their own potential on the local 
or international stage. 
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I wish to specially thank the people 
of Mighty River Power. They made 
an extraordinary effort this year. A 
particular thank you to those who worked 
with professionalism and dedication 
to plan and successfully deliver the 
new procedures in Mercury Energy 
over recent months. Thank you also to 
our Chief Executive, Doug Heffernan, 
who continues to go the extra mile 
to ensure that the Company deals 
with the issues facing it with integrity, 
expedition and effectiveness. I want 
also to place on record the Company’s 
appreciation for the sacrifices made 
by the families of our people.

During the year our then Deputy 
Chair, Ian Fraser, left the Board. His 
wise counsel is missed by both the 
Board and management. We also 
welcomed two new Board members, 
Sir Paul Reeves and Neil Ranford. 

Finally, I would like to thank our 
shareholding Ministers who, in 
providing ongoing support to Mighty 
River Power, assisted us through 
some difficult times this year. 

Carole Durbin 
Chair
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CHIEF  
EXECUTIVE’S  
REPORT 

Lessons Learnt
Security of supply. It’s what we have 
always considered our single biggest 
priority, in order to be a successful 
business operating in a sustainable 
market and regulatory environment. 
Our focus has been on finding new 
sources of energy, and harnessing those 
resources for the benefit of people and 
businesses. Electricity is a vital resource 
which underpins our social and economic 
wellbeing. Like the water from which 
we gain energy, it is something most 
New Zealanders cannot do without.

Events across the last few months  
have made us acutely aware however  
of the responsibility we have been given. 
Security of supply. The term applies not 
just to our capacity to contribute to the 
nation’s security, but also to our ability 
to deliver an ongoing supply of electricity 
to our individual customers’ homes. It 
is a lesson we have learnt this year as 
we continue to reflect on how our retail 
business can best serve its customers. It 
is a thread that runs through our calls for 
better transmission corridors through 
the North Island. It is a theme that the 
lines companies can relate to, with 
severe weather events cutting power 
to homes for long periods on several 
occasions in the last two winters. And 
it underpins our ongoing search for 
energy supply options for New Zealand, 
to provide confidence in supply and to 
reduce the nation’s carbon footprint.

After a relatively stable year, the 
unfortunate event which impacted our 
retail business in May brought sharply into 
focus our responsibility to the 340,000 
customers we supply. Reflecting on what 
occurred, and things are always clearer 
in hindsight, we have seen new ways to 
assist vulnerable and medically dependent 
customers. Their special situations need 
to be clearly understood, as reflected by 
the new and more stringent Electricity 
Commission Guidelines. The fact that 
changes have been made is a positive 
move for the industry as a whole – along 
with our customers.

We have moved to redefine our retail 
business as a result of these recent 
events. We were swift to deliver 
new procedures and customer 
communications which will ensure 
compliance with the strengthened 
Government guidelines. In this respect, 
though I am pleased with the progress 
we have made, I am also aware of 
the need to continuously improve our 
customer processes and to work with the 
Electricity Commission and Government 
of New Zealand to achieve outcomes 
to rival those in other countries.

Changing Times
I believe the next year will be a time of 
continuing change for Mighty River Power. 
The past year has seen a range of issues 
of national importance rise in significance. 
The growing debate around climate 
change has brought environmental 
concerns into the forefront of New 
Zealand life. Proposed Government 
policies around carbon pricing and 
emission reductions have been 
anticipated. Their specific characteristics 
will influence the Company; however 
climate change has really become an 
issue for all New Zealanders to consider. 
 

Looking back on the last five years, the 
country has come a long way. In 2003 
the nation’s concerns were focused 
on a different kind of threat, one of 
power shortages and cuts. Our priority 
at that time was to bring security to 
national power supply, and with that 
in mind we made decisions, such 
as plans to consent the Marsden B 
power station as a coal-fired plant 
to provide a rapid commissioning 
option. Today that immediate energy 
crisis has been overcome, and climate 
change solutions are increasingly our 
national and international imperative. 

For Mighty River Power, the last five 
years have resulted in significant 
progress. The Company is now halfway 
through construction of its 90MW, $300 
million power station in Kawerau. The 
new station will be the largest single 
geothermal power development in New 
Zealand in more than 20 years. With 
Kawerau and other geothermal, wind 
and hydro projects in the pipeline, fuel 
availability for the next decade is now 
in fundamentally better shape than in 
2001-2003, when analysis showed that 
coal could be essential to providing 
immediate security of supply. Securing 
consents to build additional geothermal 
capacity allowed us to permanently 
discontinue work on Marsden B, a 
decision we made during the past year. 
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The Kawerau plant is part of a major 
geothermal exploration and development 
programme for the Company. It is a major 
step in a plan to invest over $1 billion to 
develop around 400MW of geothermal 
energy by 2012 – enough power for around 
400,000 homes. This is good news. Not 
just because of the Kawerau station’s 
potential to increase local generation 
capacity in the Eastern Bay of Plenty, but 
also because geothermal generation 
has a number of advantages over other 
renewable energy sources. Unlike wind 
and hydro, geothermal is not subject to 
climate variations such as wind speed or 
the amount of rainfall. It can contribute 
to the country’s energy requirements 
with more certainty. Its location close 
to major demand centres, and its base 
load characteristic, means it requires 
much less transmission investment 
than other renewable options. In short, 
it is the most effective, efficient and 
environmentally friendly form of reliable 
energy available to this country.

Our geothermal exploration and 
development programme continues to 
grow as we aim to establish ourselves as 
the leading New Zealand operator and 
developer of new geothermal generation. 
Our business model, which engages iwi 
and other key stakeholders, together with 
our proven experience in this field, means 
we are best placed to bring geothermal 
generation to the market quickly. 

Finding the Balance
In terms of next steps, Mighty River Power 
continues to diversify and look across the 
many potential forms of generation to 
secure the nation’s energy needs. Wind 
provides exciting opportunities. The 
lay of the land, particularly in regions 
such as the Manawatu, make wind a 
particularly appropriate resource for 
New Zealand. The Company presently 
has wind monitoring equipment on six 
sites across New Zealand, including 
Turitea near Palmerston North. This 
is potentially one of the best wind 
generation sites in the world and where 
we hope to develop a wind farm in 
partnership with the Palmerston North 
City Council. The recent decision by the 
High Court to allow the Council to expand 
the purpose of a reserve to include 
use as a wind farm reflects the need 
for long term thinking about potential 
energy sources, given no power station 
development is completely without 
community or environmental impact.
 
At a local community level wind projects 
are becoming less popular. While the fuel 
is free and carbon-neutral, a wind farm 
will tend to have a greater visual impact 
than a gas or coal-fired plant, which 
can be tucked out of sight, if not out of 
mind. Clearly, achieving sustainability 
involves more than just a preference for 
renewable fuel. Like any human activity, 
generating electricity, regardless of 
the method employed, has an effect 
on the environment. The challenge is 
to weigh up the wider needs of society, 
with the needs of the local community.

Mighty River Power is committed to, 
and looks forward to, continuing to 
produce the energy New Zealand needs 
to grow and prosper in a way that is 
sustainable, both economically and 
environmentally, over the long term. To 
do so, we must have the support of the 
communities in which we live and work. 
As such, we are grateful to the central 
North Island communities, and our iwi 
partners, for the contribution they have 
made to our nation’s energy needs. 

The Waikato River hydro system remains 
the core of our generation portfolio. Our 
eight dams along the Waikato River were 
constructed across five decades, an 
incredible engineering feat at the time. 
These dams, surrounded by communities 
along the Waikato River, are now an 
embedded part of the environment. We 
continue to commit to and celebrate these 
assets through our major reinvestment 
in the Arapuni Dam, initially constructed 
in 1929, and the opening of the new 
Waikato River Trails tracks showcasing 
the Waikato River between Atiamuri and 
Whakamaru stations.

We don’t underestimate the difficulty 
councils have in consenting new 
developments because they, like us, 
must balance the local and national need 
to ensure our collective sustainable 
future. We hope that through our many 
sponsorships, community initiatives, iwi 
and environmental partnerships – many 
of them focused on or around the Waikato 
River – we are demonstrating our long 
term commitment to the communities in 
which we operate, and where our people 
live and work.
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Our People, Our Community
All of this highlights the importance we 
place on our people. Our employees 
are passionate about this industry and 
many, through their involvements with 
our community initiatives, are also 
passionate about what the Company 
contributes to society outside of the 
electricity business. In attending the 
launch of the Raukawa oral history CD 
in Hamilton recently, I was reminded of 
what is being achieved. The initiative we 
took to support the recording of the oral 
history of the Raukawa people is just 
one of the many projects being brought 
to life through our iwi partnerships. 
Elsewhere we are facilitating the building 
of walking trails along the river, restoring 
natural river and bush habitats, training 
world-class rowers, creating science 
and technology exhibitions, building 
new facilities at the Starship Children’s 
Hospital, even recycling food scraps for 
the Ellerslie Primary School worm farm.
 
We are also proud to offer graduate 
and apprenticeship programmes which 
are considered best in class. In doing 
so we are not only future proofing 
our own internal capability, but also 
helping to relieve the national skills 
shortage, by supporting young people 
to train in a variety of professions and 
trades within our organisation. 

Annual Result
In terms of performance, the year was 
characterised by high hydro inflows in 
the first six months to December 2006 
with almost 60 percent of this year’s 
hydro production occurring during this 
period. The elevated levels of hydro 
production during the first half of the 
year saw significantly lower thermal 
generation at Southdown. Gas use 
at Southdown reduced from 7.7 PJ 
(Petajoules) in the year to June 2006 to 
5.6 PJ in the current financial year. 

Low autumn inflows saw a fall in hydro 
production in the six months to June 
2007. The reduced hydro contribution 
was offset by an increase in thermal 
production at Southdown following the 
timely commissioning of the new unit. 
Over two thirds of thermal production 
occurred during the second half of the 
year when national hydro conditions 
were poor, again demonstrating the 
importance of gas-fired thermal assets 
in diversifying the risks associated with 
the country’s hydro and wind resources.

In a continuation of previous years’ 
trends, geothermal production at both 
Rotokawa and Mokai set new records, 
through excellent plant availability, fuel 
efficiency gains and plant expansions.

Earnings before interest, tax, depreciation 
and amortisation was strong at $314.2 
million, up $10.2 million on the previous 
year. Net surplus after taxation was $112.4 
million, an increase of $11.6 million when 
compared with 2006. This included $19.6 
million expenditure from unsucessful gas 
exploration. Operating cash flow was very 
strong at $227.9 million, up $32.2 million 
on last year. Capital expenditure of $183.5 
million, an increase of $35.1 million 
compared with 2006, demonstrated the 
Company’s commitment to investing in 
the business and growing generation 
capability. The balance sheet grew 
$174 million through investment in new 
plant bringing total assets to $2.88 
billion. Shareholders’ equity was steady 
at $2.16 billion with strong operating 
cash flows enabling debt repayment.

Notwithstanding the event involving 
our retail business, the year was one of 
significant positive milestones across 
the business. New generation projects 
were advanced, putting us in a good 
position to meet the country’s increasing 
energy needs. Renewables, particularly 

geothermal, are our dominant theme. 
Technology to transform our metering 
business, to enable such capability as 
modern forms of prepay electricity, will 
bring us closer to offering truly flexible 
payment options to retail customers. We 
expanded our areas of retail operation 
and began to forge links with new 
communites and stakeholders in new 
areas. We confirmed a number of new and 
increased community based initiatives. 

Our high level of activity places big 
demands on our management team and 
staff, and I would like to thank everyone 
for their ongoing commitment. The events 
of late May caused an unusual set of 
demands for everyone in the Company 
and I was extremely proud of the way 
in which all staff helped address the 
issues and inspire the business with 
energy, commitment and compassion. 
I believe we have come through this 
year a stronger Company with a more 
customer focused approach to our work. 

Doug Heffernan
Chief Executive

CHIEF  
EXECUTIVE’S  
REPORT 
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GROSS
MARGIN
ANALYSIS

        2007   2006 

  Retail1 Wholesale2 Retail1 Wholesale2 

Revenue     

Gross Revenue  739.5 299.3 734.4 521.0
Less Transmission & Distribution Costs  299.3  -    273.5  -   
Net Revenue  440.2 299.3 460.9 521.0
Costs     
Energy Purchases  301.2 34.5 508.1 43.5
Other Direct Costs/(Income)  (29.7) 19.3 49.9 (18.1)
     
Energy Gross Margin   168.73 245.5 (97.1)3 495.6
     
Generation Volumes (GWh)4   -    4,973.3  -    5,283.6
Total Fixed Price Variable Volume Sales (GWh)5  3,910.6  -    3,874.7  -   
Average Wholesale Electricity Price ($MWh)   -    55.7  -    92.6
Average Fixed Price Variable Volume Price ($MWh)  98.6  -    93.8  -   

1. Retail includes sales to end user customers of energy and the net impact of  
 electricity financial derivatives (excluding inter-generator financial derivatives). 
2. Wholesale includes all generation activities, the sale of energy   
 to the wholesale energy market and the net impact of inter-generator   
 financial derivatives.      
3.  Retail energy gross margin includes the full metering costs incurred by Metrix,  
 some of which are eliminated on consolidation.    
4.  Generation volumes exclude equity accounted volumes.   
5.  Does not include volumes associated with electricity financial derivatives.  
 See note 1 and 2 for treatment of electricity financial derivative settlements. 
    

In the interest of increased transparency we have included above 
a breakdown for our Energy Gross Margin by wholesale and 
retail. The key difference between 2006 and 2007 is the decline in 
aggregate net revenue due to lower spot prices. This decline was 
largely offset by a corresponding decrease in energy purchase 
costs. The combined effect of these changes was an increase 
in total energy gross margin of $15.7 million to $414.2 million.
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HIGHLIGHTS

THE YEAR IN REVIEW

EBITDA

$314.2 Million
We recorded another strong result for Earnings before Interest,  
Tax, Depreciation and Amortisation (EBITDA)

CAPITAL EXPENDITURE

$183.5 Million
An increase of $35.1 million on last year fuelling growth  
in generation capacity 

KAWERAU

90MW
Commencement of construction on the  
new $300 million geothermal plant 

ARAPUNI

11 Kilometres
Total length drilled to repair fissures in the rock 80 metres  
below the Arapuni dam crest

WAIKATO RIVER TRAILS

17 Kilometres
Increased sponsorship of Waikato River Trails Trust  
a major step towards creating 100 kilometres of trails  
along the Waikato River 

SMART METERING

4,000 Meters
Mercury Energy customers in Auckland’s eastern suburbs  
the first to be fitted with smart meters in our ongoing deployment 
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Earnings before Interest, Tax, Depreciation and Amortisation 

(EBITDA) ($Million)

Return on average Shareholders’ Equity 

 (%)

Net Surplus after Taxation 

($Million)

Operating Cashflow  

($Million)

Equity / Total Assets 

(%)

Net Debt / Net Debt + Equity 

(%)

2007

2005

2004

2003

2006

2007

2005

2004

2003

2006

2007

2005

2004

2003

2006

2007

2005

2004

2003

2006

2007

2005

2004

2003

2006

Free Funds from Operations / Interest Expense 

(times)

2007

2005

2004

2003

2006

314.2

298.2

246.7

161.3

304.0

227.9

187.6

89.0

81.7

195.7

5.3

8.3

11.4

14.0

4.9

75.0

76.2

58.6

57.3

77.5

112.4

121.2

99.8

113.5

100.8

2007

2005

2004

2003

2006

16.6

18.0

32.4

35.1

17.1

8.1

7.0

6.8

4.1

7.0
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BRIGHT STARS 
OF THE FUTURE
Harnessing New Zealand’s natural resources for electricity generation 
requires people highly skilled in a wide range of fields. People like Andrew 
Millyn (centre) and Te Whitu Rakei (left), two of the apprentices now 
completing the Company’s three-and-a-half year Apprenticeship Programme.

Apprentices come out of the programme with a thorough 
grounding in electrical and mechanical engineering, as 
well as health and safety qualifications. To round out the 
classroom study, they are temporarily assigned to host 
companies, most of whom are contractors to Mighty River 
Power, to put the final polish on a broad range of skills.

The programme has been well supported by the 
Company’s iwi partners and 17 of the 41 apprentices are 
iwi affiliated. Te Whitu is one of those who completed the 
ESITO Taster Course sponsored by Tuwharetoa, and is 
now a full-time apprentice.

Apprenticeship Programme Manager Ian Carr, pictured 
right at the Mokai Geothermal Power Station, says the 
programme is a real win-win. “The apprentices are 
learning the tricks of the trade from some of the best 
brains in the business, the host companies have access 
to a group of bright and shiny workers, and Mighty River 
Power is building a pool of talent that will keep our 
business flourishing in the years to come.”







FROM THE 
GROUND UP
“Geothermal is New Zealand’s fuel of the future,” says Paul Ware, the Project 
Manager of Mighty River Power’s Kawerau geothermal project. 

“Thirty years ago New Zealand led the world in 
geothermal development. The work we are doing here  
at Kawerau is again breaking new ground, and we have 
the potential to lead the world again.”

“Not only are projects like this great for communities like 
Kawerau, but geothermal also offers the most reliable, 
renewable electricity source into the future.”

As the most significant single geothermal development  
in New Zealand for two decades, Mighty River Power’s 
plant at Kawerau is a blueprint for the future.

Paul is pictured (left) with Generation Development 
Manager Stuart Lush (right) and Kawerau Mayor 
Malcolm Campbell (centre) at the ever-developing 
Kawerau site.



PEOPLE

DEVELOPING SKILLS 
FOR THE FUTURE

The nature of the Company’s business 
– with operational sites ranging from 
hydro and geothermal reservoirs to power 
stations to call centres to corporate 
offices - requires the business to support 
a range of trades and professions. The 
Company is committed to providing a 
working environment that supports and 
encourages the development of people, 
both personally and professionally.

Apprenticeship Programme
The successful Apprenticeship 
Programme continued this year. The 
Company currently has 41 apprentices 
at varying stages of career development. 
The programme was enhanced to include 
more unit standards and now offers 
NZQA level 4 electrical engineering, level 
4 electrical supply, level 2 mechanical 
engineering, and level 3 occupational 
health and safety. The programme 
produces multi-skilled apprentices who 
will have the opportunity to add more 
value to the industry. One of the hallmarks 
of the programme has been its success in 
attracting iwi candidates. The Company 
works with its iwi and community partners 
during the national annual intake and 
almost half of the apprentices who have 
joined the Company have iwi affiliations.

Graduate Development Programme
This year Mighty River Power added a 
further six graduates to its Graduate 
Development Programme. In addition, 
the Company is providing educational 
support to one PhD and two Masters 
candidates for research projects related 
to the energy industry. Mighty River 
Power’s Graduate Programme has been 
running for four years. The programme 
now has 20 graduates in total and this 
is seen as a good long term level.

Power Engineering Excellence Trust
Mighty River Power supports the 
Power Engineering Excellence Trust 
which was established to promote and 
support power engineering in New 
Zealand. The establishment of the 
Electric Power Engineering Centre 
has resulted in significantly increased 
enrolments in power engineering 
courses at the University of Canterbury.
 
Developing Future Leaders Programme
The Developing Future Leaders 
Programme, which identifies those with 
strong potential, has seen expansion 
across the organisation. The programme 
consists of a competency suite for 
managers to help them develop in 
their current roles. It also acts as a 
succession route for those perceived to 
have outstanding potential. Many of the 
first group to participate took up new 
leadership positions in the Company, 
securing succession pathways and 
allowing many vacancies to be filled 
internally. In a tight labour market, this 
has relieved the pressure otherwise 
presented because of talent shortages. 

Senior management regularly reviews 
the bench strength of the Company 
to ensure staff are developing toward 
key positions. In 2007, a total of 24 staff 
were taken through the NZQA level 
4 management standard. A further 
12 are currently studying towards 
achieving this unit standard. 

Mighty River Power is making a significant investment in its 
people. The Company has an active programme of professional 
development and training at all levels within the Company to 
ensure the optimum mix of skills is achieved internally, and to 
address the skills shortage within the industry as a whole. 
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The Company also has a strong focus 
on developing the skill sets required 
to manage new generation projects. 
This has resulted in a shift in emphasis 
from management of existing assets, 
to growing the project and commercial 
management expertise of engineers. 

Workchoice Day
In 2007 the Company participated  
for the first time in Workchoice Day.  
This initiative provides an opportunity  
for year 12 students to investigate career 
opportunities by visiting Mighty River 
Power to participate in presentation 
sessions and to talk to staff about career 
opportunities. As an organisation actively 
involved in growing skills for the industry, 
this is seen as an opportunity to capture 
the imagination of students and 
encourage them to continue with 
mathematics and science studies  
which provide an important foundation 
for careers in engineering.

Work Life Balance and Wellbeing
The Company appreciates that staff live 
busy lives and often have to juggle family 
responsibilities. To assist with this, all 
staff are given five days called My Days 
to use at their discretion during the year. 
To support staff and their families with 
personal or work issues the Company 
also offers counselling and a wide 
range of other support services. All 
full-time Mighty River Power employees 
are eligible for Company funded Group 
Life and Income Protection insurance 
cover designed to assist families in 
the event of unforeseen events that 
adversely affect family income. 

Retirement Planning and KiwiSaver
This year the Company has encouraged 
employees to engage in retirement saving. 
This acknowledges the wider community 
interest in, and benefits from, personal 
commitment to retirement saving. 
KiwiSaver was introduced on 1 July 2007 
and to facilitate employee involvement, 
Mighty River Power has offered an 
allowance equivalent to 2 percent of 
gross earnings for all permanent staff. 
The choice whether to take the allowance 
as income or to pay it to KiwiSaver as 
an employer contribution has been left 
with employees. 51 percent of employees 
elected to join KiwiSaver in the two 
months following its launch.

Partnering with Iwi
The Company continues to work in 
partnership with iwi supporting tribal 
development activities including 
promoting projects to improve education 
and employment opportunities.

Among the leadership projects 
supported with Waikato-Tainui was the 
Rahui Pokeke Future Leaders initiative 
which highlighted the value that the 
programme’s talented future leaders, 
the rangatahi, will add to their whanau, 
their iwi and the wider community. 
Focusing on cultural development, 
ongoing support is given to the National 
Secondary Schools Kapa Haka Festival 
which is hosted by Tainui and is scheduled 
to take place again in early 2008.

In partnership with Ngati Tuwharetoa, 
the Company has for the past two 
years supported some 600 Tuwharetoa 
education grants each year, and has 
also provided 10 individual scholarships 
using priorities set by the Trust Board. 
The partnership is further refining these 
initiatives to focus on providing financial 
support for individuals who will contribute 
to future tribal leadership and succession.
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GENERATION

STRENGTH IN DIVERSITY

To create options to meet market 
demand for electricity, the Company 
has been undertaking an ambitious 
programme to diversify its generation 
portfolio. This has meant leveraging 
existing strengths in hydro and securing 
sites, access rights, consents and 
joint venture opportunities across a 
spectrum of generation technologies 
– small hydro, geothermal, wind and 
thermal. The Company has also invested 
significantly in natural gas exploration. 

Mighty River Power’s geothermal 
exploration and development programme 
is a major strategic focus, presenting 
unique opportunities for economic, 
reliable generation from a renewable fuel 
source. The Company believes geothermal 
generation will play an increasingly 
vital role in New Zealand’s sustainable 
energy future, and is well on the way to 
completing the first stage of development 
of 400MW of geothermal capacity by 2012.

Operating Environment
The advantages of the Company’s 
diversified portfolio were highlighted 
over the 2006 – 2007 operating period 
with hydro and gas fired generation 
at Southdown complementing each 
other over the wide seasonal range of 
hydro conditions experienced during 
the year. High inflows in the six months 
to December 2006 were followed by 
poor inflows in the next six months. 
Total hydro production was however 
close to long run mean, but slightly 
down (-47 GWh, -1.1%) on last year.

Production at the Southdown plant at 589 
GWh was down 33 percent on the previous 
year – due to much healthier national 
hydro conditions in the spring and 
summer. Production at Southdown was 
heaviest in the autumn / winter period 
following commissioning of the new 
peaking unit, providing good support for the 
then poor national hydro storage conditions.
 
Geothermal production at the Rotokawa 
and Mokai stations continued the previous 
years’ trend of geothermal growth with 
new production records set at both 
Rotokawa (for the third straight year) 
and at Mokai (fourth year in a row).

Overall, generation volumes declined 
by 5.3 percent to 5,762 GWh, compared 
with 6,082 GWh the previous year, with 
the major variance being reduced gas-
fired generation as a result of much 
lower wholesale market prices.

Geothermal
The Company’s extensive geothermal 
exploration and development 
programme reflects the important 
role of geothermal as a renewable 
resource, capable of supporting New 
Zealand’s sustainable energy future. 

For Mighty River Power, the 
commencement of construction of  
the new Kawerau power plant in late  
2006 was a significant milestone in 
the Company’s geothermal plans. The 
90MW $300 million geothermal power 
plant represents four years planning 
and community consultation, followed 
by a two-year build phase. Due to be 
commissioned in spring 2008, the base 
load power station will reduce  
New Zealand’s need for base load  
coal-fired generation.

While hydro and gas have delivered internationally cheap  
and plentiful supplies of electricity for New Zealanders in  
the past, pressure has built to secure other energy options.

Strong economic and population growth are pushing  
up demand by a compound rate of two percent a year.  
This is equivalent to adding a city the size of Tauranga  
to the national grid each year.
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Construction of the Kawerau station is 
progressing well. A major contract for 
design engineering, procurement and 
construction was awarded to Sumitomo 
Corporation in 2006 after a tender process 
which attracted considerable international 
interest because of the size of the project. 
The construction period will result in 
some $80 million being injected into 
the New Zealand economy. Across the 
build phase employment opportunities 
will be created for more than 200 
people – the majority coming from the 
Eastern Bay of Plenty community. 

Once complete, the Kawerau geothermal 
station will significantly increase local 
generation capacity in the Eastern Bay 
of Plenty, meeting approximately 
one-third of residential and industrial 
demand in the region and providing 
a boost for Kawerau industries. 
The station is physically located on 
the Kawerau industrial site, and its 
production will be physically absorbed 
by the local industry, deferring the 
need for transmission investment 
into the region by at least a decade.
 
Mighty River Power has interests in two 
other facilities at Kawerau. Planning for 
a new 8MW power plant, to be operated 
on behalf of the iwi-owned Geothermal 
Development Ltd, is well advanced. 
In addition, the Company operates 
the geothermal steam field assets for 
Ngati Tuwharetoa Geothermal Assets 
Ltd which supplies process steam to 
the Norske Skog Tasman and Carter 
Holt Harvey pulp and paper plants.

The Company’s jointly-owned geothermal 
power plants at Rotokawa and Mokai 
in the central North Island had record 
operating years with availability at 
Rotokawa in the upper quartile of 
international geothermal practice. In July 
2007, in partnership with the Tauhara 
North No. 2 Trust, the Company filed a 
resource consent application to build a 
$400 million 140MW geothermal plant 
at Rotokawa. The Company is hopeful of 
receiving consents by the end of the year, 
enabling commissioning by summer 2010. 
This represents a considerable addition 
on the Rotokawa field. The existing 
35MW plant is now in its tenth year of 
operation. Just prior to year end, Mighty 
River Power completed negotiations with 
other electricity companies to remove 
distribution network constraints that 
were restricting the plant’s output. 

The Tuaropaki Power Company,  
in which Mighty River Power has a 25 
percent shareholding, further expanded 
generation at Mokai to 112MW. The Mokai 
plant has now doubled in size since the 
Company took an equity stake in the 
Tuaropaki Power Company in 2003.

Wind
Wind is becoming an increasingly 
important source of renewable energy 
with unprecedented demand worldwide 
for wind turbines. As other resources 
such as hydro become less available 
and more expensive to develop, new 
energy sources such as wind become an 
alternative, particularly in New Zealand 
where the resource is plentiful. Given 
significant but finite geothermal options, 
the Company sees wind generation as a 
complementary renewable resource. 

Favourable results from wind-monitoring 
at the Turitea wind farm site near 
Palmerston North have moved this 
project to the next stage. Data from three 
60 metre wind monitoring masts and an 
80 metre tower, installed in early 2006, 
confirmed initial estimates that there 
would be sufficient generation capacity 
to proceed with a mid to large scale wind 
farm. The Company has begun extensive 
consultations with landowners adjacent 
to the site about ten kilometres south east 
of the city, before making a decision to 
seek resource consents for the project. 

In addition to Turitea, Mighty River Power 
is monitoring the wind resource at five 
sites around the country, ranging from 
Kaipara to Marlborough. While these 
wind measurements are being collected 
the Company is assessing other factors 
which determine the feasibility of these 
sites for wind farms. Investigation 
work to confirm the construction and 
consenting requirements is leading the 
Company to select the best and most 
appropriate sites for development. A 
worldwide boom in renewable energy 
generation in recent years has increased 
the technical and procurement challenges 
of wind development. New Zealand wind 
sites typically offer high wind speeds in 
complex terrain. To assist its technical 
capabilities the Company has entered 
into a three year collaboration with the 
University of Auckland Department of 
Physics and support of a PhD student. 
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Hydro
Appreciation of the importance and 
value of water as a resource is being 
strongly felt in New Zealand with 
increased competition for water for 
recreational, agricultural and urban use. 
With up to 15 percent of the country’s 
peak energy needs being met from the 
Waikato hydro system, the Company is 
driven by a responsibility to protect this 
highly valued water resource for the 
nation, while operating in a way which is 
environmentally sound and responsive to 
those who use the river in other ways. 

The Company has made a submission 
to Environment Waikato regarding the 
regional council’s proposed variation 
to the Water Allocation Regional Plan 
and supports a proactive approach to 
avoiding the over-allocation of water 
in the Waikato River Catchment. The 
Company endorses the regional council’s 
proposal to give priority to community 
water supplies and renewable energy 
generation, which recognises the role 
these resources play in helping meet 
the energy needs of the nation.

The Company has also played an active 
role in the Taupo region, and is part 
of a group consisting of Environment 
Waikato, Taupo District Council, and 
the Tuwharetoa Maori Trust Board 
which was established to support 
the development of the Lake Taupo 
Foreshore Risk Management Strategy.

Mighty River Power has provided technical 
assistance in the preparation of a study 
into the cause of erosion around the Lake 
Taupo foreshore, so that local authorities, 
the Company, iwi and the community 
as a whole understand the key factors 
contributing to erosion, in order to develop 
appropriate protection measures. 

A preliminary study this year, conducted 
by Beca Infrastructure showed that 
there are a number of causes of erosion 
around the foreshore and ranked each 
factor according to its level of contribution 
at key locations. An independent peer 
review by Tonkin and Taylor concluded 
that the biggest cause of erosion was 
structures and development. Natural 
processes and the lake level regime 
were given lower and similar weightings. 
Catchment management was identified 
as the least significant factor.

In implementing the Company’s 35 year 
consents, made operable in 2006, to 
use the river for hydro generation, the 
business has signalled its long term 
commitment to the sustainable operation 
of this vital resource. As part of this, the 
Company has invested in improving the 
efficiency and output of existing plant with 
a strong focus on operational excellence. 
Mighty River Power ensures its power 
stations are run as efficiently as possible 
to deliver value to the nation’s customers. 

Efficient use of the Waikato water 
resource and maintenance of water quality 
are key real time priorities. Mighty River 
Power became the first customer globally 
to install and trial hydro optimisation 
software to manage individual station 
output across units in real time. Initial 
results are promising, showing a 
significant two percent efficiency gain.

A comprehensive ongoing programme 
of dam monitoring, maintenance and 
technology enhancement continued 
in 2007. Repair of fissures in the rock 
underlying the Arapuni dam was begun in 
2005 to reduce water seepage and ensure 
ongoing control. These fissures have 
existed since the dam was constructed 
in 1929 and have been partially repaired 
twice previously. The level of seepage 
has been tightly monitored for a number 

of years. Although the seepage was 
not threatening dam safety, it was felt 
that by acting now the possibility in the 
future of having to lower the water level, 
with significant loss in hydro generation 
capacity for an extended period to 
effect repairs, could be avoided. 

The world first solution involved  
drilling a series of intersecting piles 
to form a wall across each of the four 
fissures. While intersecting pile walls  
are not novel, maintaining precise drilling 
direction to ensure wall continuity at some 
80 metres below the dam crest whilst 
drilling through a 40 metre high dam 
was a significant extension of previously 
intrusive practice. The technology 
development to achieve this was facilitated 
through an alliance between Mighty 
River Power and world-leading Italian 
ground engineering specialists TREVI 
S.p.A supported by local contractor Brian 
Perry Civil. This enabled consultants and 
contractors to have a singular focus on  
the quality of the outcome. Verification 
tests show that after drilling more than  
11 kilometres of 80 metre deep slots in  
the dam structure, the walls are now  
99.9 percent continuous which is 
significantly better than the success 
target established by the Company’s 
consultants, Damwatch, supported by  
a number of international experts.

To reduce clean-up and plant 
maintenance costs, and improve water 
quality for recreational uses, the Company 
has also developed and commissioned 
a new weed shredder which cuts up 
lake weed at about ten times the rate 
of previously-employed machinery. 

GENERATION

STRENGTH IN DIVERSITY
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The Company has continued to explore 
opportunities for small scale, largely run 
of river, hydro schemes. Construction 
of a 9MW small hydro plant on the 
upper Waipa River is underway in a 
joint venture with a private developer. 
Commissioning is planned for 2008.

Cogeneration
Though Mighty River Power is primarily 
focused on developing more renewable 
energy sources such as geothermal 
and wind, a broad range of fuels is still 
necessary for New Zealand to ensure 
energy security under a range of different 
conditions. Because of its flexibility, 
natural gas is an important part of this 
mix and during the year, Mighty River 
Power commissioned its new 45MW gas-
fired turbine generator at its Southdown 
Cogeneration Station. Being located in 
Auckland, the Southdown Cogeneration 
plant plays a vital role in alleviating the 
stress on the national grid. The increase 
in Southdown’s generation capacity from 
125MW to 170MW is sufficient to supply 
25,000 homes. The $26.7 million project 
was delivered in just 15 months from 
development of the business case to 
commercial operation. With poor hydro 
conditions in early 2007, it has already 
demonstrated its important support to 
New Zealand’s renewable energy base. 

The new turbine is part of the  
Company’s ongoing investment in 
new generation capacity to help 
meet the country’s growing energy 
requirements and to improve energy 
supply security to the Greater Auckland 
region. At the same time, the Company 
continues to invest in improving the 
operational efficiency and output of 
the existing plant through technology 
innovation and skills development.

Upstream Gas
Ensuring security of supply is a priority 
for generators. This means securing 
other energy options, including thermal 
generation, which can offset the risk of 
relying on weather-dependent sources 
of power such as hydro or wind. Gas 
is the best fuel within New Zealand’s 
energy mix to satisfy this need and 
this underpins the need for more gas 
exploration as a way of bringing certainty 
to the country’s long term energy needs. 
Given the long lead times required to 
bring new generation on-stream, the 
Company has embarked on a natural gas 
exploration programme with a number of 
local and international companies from 
the United States, Australia and Japan. 

The Company has built a portfolio of ten 
exploration opportunities in Taranaki 
and in Southland. The Goss, Tawa and 
Trapper wells in Taranaki were drilled in 
2005-2007, however gas was discovered 
in insufficient quantities to be suitable 
for commercial development. Other 
targets in those fields are currently being 
evaluated. Mighty River Power has earnt 
a 50 percent equity stake in the Waiau 
Basin by drilling the Eastern Bush and 
Dean Wells. The Eastern Bush well was 
dry and the Dean-1 Well reached target 
depth after encountering consistent 
gas shows. Testing showed the gas to 
be available in limited quantities, or 
of insufficient pressure to produce a 
flare, however the result is encouraging 
for future exploration in this basin.
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BEST FOOT 
FORWARD
 
 

Through the Star Supporters Club, Mercury Energy 
customers have donated more than $800,000 to the 
Starship Children’s Hospital in the past four years. This 
year’s project was the transformation of the hospital’s 
therapy gymnasium from utilitarian clinical facility to 
fantastic natural wonderland.

“Many of the children who come here need intensive 
physical therapy in order to gain or re-gain the motor 
skills the rest of us take for granted. It’s hard work, 
physically and emotionally, and it means a lot of time 

in the gym” says Starship Foundation Chief Executive 
Andrew Young, pictured with Chantelle Urquhart,  
the Communications Manager for Mercury Energy.

“The décor creates a sense of magic; the kids love coming 
here and for the nurses and therapists it’s an additional 
tool – another way to distract the kids from the 
unpleasant reality of what they are going through.”

At Starship, the impact of the hospital’s environment on the mental and 
physical wellbeing of its young patients is a major theme. The design of the 
building - even the name – is aimed at appealing to children and taking the 
edge off their natural fears and concerns.



“All of us share a common goal; ensuring the health  
and vitality of the Waikato River today and for the future. 
The close relationship between Waikato-Tainui and  
Mighty River Power means we can work together to 
identify and solve the issues that are important to us all,” 
says Mighty River Power Key Relationship Specialist,  
Don Scarlet. 

“Working together through the Waikato-Tainui –  
Mighty River Power Partnership Group gives us a  
better understanding of each other’s perspective, and has 
established both Mighty River Power and Waikato-Tainui 
as organisations that want to work together and with 
other stakeholders in the community.”

Several waka ama, the one pictured is crewed by the 
Turanga-waewae Waka Ama Club, have been funded  
by the Group.

“In the same way Waikato-Tainui have supported and 
assisted our stewardship of this taonga, we are pleased 
to support many of the educational, sporting and cultural 
activities throughout their rohe,” says Don.

Pictured at Turangawaewae Marae are, from left,  
Mighty River Power’s Magnus Adlam, Waikato-Tainui’s 
Pokaia Nepia, Julian Williams, Hemi Rau and Tim 
Manukau, and Don Scarlet and Leroy Leach, also  
from Mighty River Power. 

A COMMON  
GOAL
 
 

The Waikato River is central to the whakapapa and lore of both Mighty River 
Power and the Tainui people. This shared connection is at the heart of strong 
relationships between the Company and the people of Waikato-Tainui.





Mighty River Power and Mercury Energy 
support a range of sporting, arts, cultural, 
health, environmental and outdoor 
activities which benefit the communities 
in which the Company operates.

The Company values the many long-
standing relationships and partnerships 
it has built over time, and is committed 
to strengthening those links in the 
future. Its goal is the natural evolution 
of partnerships which genuinely benefit 
those local to its facilities and customers, 
bringing together the Company and 
surrounding communities so that the 
needs of each are mutually understood. 
A diverse sponsorship portfolio reflects 
Mighty River Power’s strong roots in 
the Waikato together with emerging 
relationships in the new communities in 
its expanding operating areas. Mercury 
Energy’s portfolio is weighted by customer 
concentration across its various regions.

SPORT AND RECREATION

Rowing New Zealand
The Mighty River Power High Performance 
Programme continues to equip and 
prepare Rowing New Zealand Elite, 
Under 23 and Junior teams to compete 
on the international scene. With the 2008 
Beijing Olympics on the horizon, followed 
by the World Championships in 2010 at 
home on Lake Karapiro, the Company 
supports the teams as they take on the 
world. Mighty River Power was the first 
organisation to support Rowing New 
Zealand in its successful bid for the 2010 
World Championships. Lake Karapiro 
previously hosted a very successful and 
memorable World Championships in 1978. 

Based at Lake Karapiro, the Mighty River 
Power High Performance Programme 
has been instrumental in developing the 
country’s elite crews, as well as world 
and Olympic champions. The success of 
this programme was demonstrated at 
recent events such as the 2007 World 
Championships in Munich, Germany 
when three New Zealand crews became 
world champions. Mighty River Power 
has supported Rowing New Zealand 
since the Company was established 
in 1999, and employees enjoy backing 
the crews whether they are on home 
waters or competing abroad. 

2007 World Champions:  

GOLD Men’s Single Scull  
  Mahe Drysdale
  Men’s Coxless Four 
  Carl Meyer, James Dallinger,  
  Eric Murray, Hamish Bond 
  Men’s Lightweight Single Scull  
  Duncan Grant 

SILVER Men’s Coxless Pair
  Nathan Twaddle  
  and George Bridgewater 
  Women’s Double Scull  

  Caroline and Georgina   
  Evers-Swindell  

COMMUNITY

BENEFITING  
EACH OTHER
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Waikato River Trails
The official opening of two new river 
trails by the Prime Minister in June 
2007 took the Waikato River Trails Trust 
a step closer to its goal of creating 
100 kilometres of linked tracks along 
the banks of the Waikato River by 
2010. The walking and cycle tracks 
will ultimately link all of Mighty River 
Power’s Waikato River hydro stations 
and allow visitors to enjoy the beauty of 
the river and surrounding countryside. 
 
With Mighty River Power confirmed as  
the major sponsor, the Trust’s future 
has been secured. It aims to open 
30 kilometres of track each year to 
enhance public enjoyment and showcase 
the native bush, historic landmarks, 
geological formations and wetlands 
along the river’s banks. The Trails project 
not only offers outdoor recreational 
pursuits for local and visiting people, 
it is also a source of employment and 
economic benefit to the region.

Taupo Ironman Triathlon
Mighty River Power increased its 
involvement in the Ironman Triathlon 
2007 event by supporting the 1,900 race 
volunteers as well as sponsoring the 
swim leg. The event – the highest profile 
sports event in the Taupo region – was 
held in excellent weather attracting 
visitors to the region and providing 
locals with an annual sporting focal 
point. The Ironman Triathlon is one of 
the most gruelling events on the New 
Zealand sporting calendar, involving a 3.8 
kilometre swim, a 179.2 kilometre cycle 
and a 42.2 kilometre run. Mighty River 
Power has sponsored the swim leg since 
2005, acknowledging the importance of 
the event to the region and the Company’s 
close working relationship with many 
businesses and people in the area. 

ARTS AND CULTURE

Maori Sports Awards
Mighty River Power sponsors the Junior 
Maori Sportsman of the Year category at 
the Maori Sports Awards, won in 2007 by 
Auckland decathlete Jordan Vandermade. 
Of Ngai Tuhoe descent, Jordan finished 
third in the decathlon at the 2006 World 
Junior Championships in Beijing where 
he set an Oceania record, and was also 
selected for the Oceania Team for the 
2006 World Cup Championships in Athens. 
Mighty River Power has sponsored 
the Junior Maori Sportsman of the Year 
since 2002. Having built strong, long-
term relationships with iwi in the upper 
North Island, the Company is proud to 
support the next generation of young 
Maori pursuing sporting excellence. In 
2007, the Company also supported the 
Tainui Sports Awards, the Mataatua 
Sports Awards and the successful 
inaugural Tuwharetoa Sports Awards.
 
Mighty River Power Junior Maori 
Sportsman of the Year: 

2006  Jordan Vandermade  Athletics
2005  Tanerau Latimer  Rugby
2004 Tanerau Latimer  Rugby
2003  Blake Skjellerup  Ice Speed Skating
2002  Luke McAlister  Rugby

Waikato Museum: 
The Mighty River Waikato –  
Hinaki and Hydropower Exhibition
Mighty River Power in 2007 became 
principal sponsor of a new science 
and technology exhibition – Hinaki and 
Hydropower – at the Waikato Museum. 
The interactive exhibition, which is 
due to open in late 2007, provides an 
opportunity for schools and families 
to learn more about the river and its 
uses, and for the Company to build 
public understanding of its hydro 
operations. The river’s story will be told 
from iwi and scientific perspectives. 

The exhibition concept has been  
developed in consultation with 
Environment Waikato, the Centre 
for Biological and Ecological 
Research (CBER) at the University 
of Waikato and Waikato-Tainui, 
Tuwharetoa and Whanganui iwi. 
 
Iwi Partnerships
The Company has forged formal 
partnerships with local iwi groups to 
advance their cultural, educational,  
health, business and sporting interests. 
The partnerships acknowledge that  
while the Company needs the river 
to secure the nation’s power supply, 
significant adverse effects should be 
minimised or mitigated. 
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In 2007, the Company supported a range 
of initiatives of benefit to Waikato-Tainui, 
Ngati Tuwharetoa, Ngati Tahu / Ngati 
Whaoa, and Ngati Raukawa. Mighty River 
Power is committed to a partnership with 
Ngati Tuwharetoa based on the support 
of cultural enhancement programmes, 
education, business incubation and 
lake bed management. Joint projects 
have included oral history archiving, 
scholarships, education grants, sports 
grants, the Tuwharetoa Kapa Haka Festival, 
restoration of kiwi on Maungatautiri, 
cultural expos and exhibitions.

Mighty River Power established a 
partnership committee with Ngati Tahu 
/ Ngati Whaoa in 2002 and works with 
the iwi group on a range of projects 
including oral history development 
and other matters of mutual interest 
in the Waikato catchment.

The Company assists Ngati Raukawa  
hapu with environmental management 
capacity. Their significant oral history 
project was also announced in August, 
the culmination of several years’ 
work with kaumatua. Similar work 
on oral history has been supported 
with hapu of Ngati Tuwharetoa and 
for Ngati Tahu / Ngati Whaoa.

Each year, the Company actively supports 
the Tainui Partnership Committee to 
promote the health, cultural development, 
education, employment future, health and 
wellbeing of the Waikato-Tainui, along 
with river-related enhancement projects 
and remedial works. In the last year the 
committee supported a range of projects 
including river bank restoration, marae 
enhancement activities, traditional 
hui and regatta, tertiary scholarship 
and internships, river safe and healthy 
lifestyles initiatives.

ENVIRONMENTAL ENHANCEMENT

Mangatautari Ecological Island 
Maungatautari, a forested volcanic cone 
rising above the Waikato basin near 
Cambridge, has for the first time in a 
century welcomed kiwi onto its slopes. 
The mountain is also now home to the 
first breeding takahe in the North Island. 
A significant milestone was achieved in 
September 2006 with the completion of a 
47 kilometre pest-proof fence, enclosing 
3,400 hectares of native forest, which 
will help ensure the ongoing protection of 
some of New Zealand’s most endangered 
wildlife. The Mangatautari Ecological 
Island Trust, supported by Mighty River 
Power since its inception in 2002, has 
successfully eradicated introduced pests 
and predators such as rats and stoats 
from the mountain top in its bid to restore 
a healthy diversity of endangered native 
flora and fauna, including tuatara, kiwi, 
kakariki, saddleback and stitchbird. 
 
Waikato RiverCare  
The Waikato River is one of New Zealand’s 
most precious natural resources with 
enormous cultural, environmental, 
recreational and commercial significance. 
Mighty River Power’s sponsorship of 
Waikato RiverCare reflects the Company’s 
commitment to the ongoing environmental 
management of this resource. The 
RiverCare project is focused on the 120 
kilometres of river bank from Hamilton 
City to Port Waikato and is dedicated to 
a sustainable programme of river bank 
enhancement with the involvement of 
local communities. Through concentrated 
planting of native vegetation RiverCare 
hopes to prevent erosion and weed 
growth, and to provide an improved 
habitat for native plant and animal life. 
Initiated in 1999, the project now has 13 
sites with around 12 kilometres of river 
bank prepared for planting and more 
than 50,000 new plants in the ground.

Most recently, the RiverCare project 
has started restoration work at Taupiri, 
downstream from the confluence of the 
Mangawara and Waikato Rivers. The site 
was specially selected for its spiritual 
significance to local iwi. The project is 
one of 27 initiatives funded by the Waikato 
Catchment Ecological Enhancement 
Trust (WCEET) in the Waikato and Lake 
Taupo region, to which Mighty River Power 
has contributed significant funding.

The Waikato Ecological 
Enhancement Trust
The Waikato Ecological Enhancement 
Trust was formed and is funded by Mighty 
River Power following discussions and 
agreement between the Company and 
representatives from the Department 
of Conservation, Fish and Game New 
Zealand, the Royal Forest and Bird 
Protection Society and the Advisory 
Committee for Regional Environment,  
to assess the future impacts of operations 
on the Waikato River and to enhance 
restoration projects. This year the Trust 
authorised grants of $230,000 to fund a 
total of 15 projects. More than $800,000 
has now been provided through Mighty 
River Power’s funding to more than 60 
projects since establishment in 2003.

Ecobulbs Campaign
Mercury Energy’s Ecobulb campaign, 
in partnership with the Electricity 
Commission, was extended to greater 
Auckland during the year, becoming 
the largest energy efficiency-focused 
lighting programme in New Zealand. 
The campaign permanently reduces 
Auckland’s peak energy demand by 
14MW through increasing the penetration 
of Ecobulbs by offering a substantial 
discount on their purchase price, making 
them more accessible to all. That’s the 
equivalent of one third of a full year’s 

COMMUNITY

BENEFITING  
EACH OTHER
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growth in Auckland’s electricity usage. 
Household budgets will also benefit. 
Replacing the five most frequently 
used bulbs with Ecobulbs will save 
householders approximately $5 on their 
monthly power bill. Ecobulbs use 80 
percent less electricity than standard 
bulbs and last up to ten times longer. 
Collectively, over the life of the bulbs, 
the participating householders will save 
almost $100 million and avoid a quarter 
of a million tonnes of CO2 emissions.

HEALTH AND WELLBEING

Star Supporters Club
Mercury Energy’s Star Supporters Club 
raised a total of $300,000 to refurbish 
occupational, physiotherapy and speech 
language therapy facilities at the Starship 
Children’s Hospital in Auckland. The 
new facilities were opened in May 2007. 
The Company’s involvement with the 
Starship Foundation dates back to 2000 
when it became a Five Star Sponsor. In 
April 2004, Mercury Energy launched 
the Star Supporters Club which enables 
customers to donate money each month 
to Starship through their bills. More than 
$800,000 has been donated since then.

Snug Homes
Mercury Energy joined with the Starship 
Foundation and the Energy Efficiency and 
Conservation Authority to insulate the 
homes of 50 Starship patients suffering 
from respiratory illness. The children’s 
homes were insulated free-of-charge 
to help make them warmer and drier 
with ceiling and floor insulation, draught 
proofing of doors, hot water cylinder 
wraps, pipe lagging and installation of 
energy efficient light bulbs and shower 
heads. The results were more energy 
efficient homes, lower power bills for 
families and healthier living environments. 

OUTDOOR ENTERTAINMENT

Christmas in the Park
Christmas in the Park has become a 
regular feature of the pre-Christmas 
excitement in Auckland, attracting 
more than 200,000 people a year. In 
December 2006, Mercury Energy marked 
12 years as sponsor of this event.

Mercury Energy 
Christmas Under the Stars
For the third year, Mercury Energy  
was proud to be the main sponsor of the 
Christmas Under the Stars concert on 
the campus of the University of Waikato, 
Hamilton, attended by about 12,000 people. 

Mercury Energy Pohutukawa Festival
Mercury Energy lit up the Coromandel 
as major sponsor for the third year 
of the Mercury Energy Pohutukawa 
Festival in 2006. The Festival included 
family-oriented events, showcasing 
the best in local cuisine, arts, sports, 
culture and the environment.

Starlight Symphony – Laser Light Show 
The Skycity Starlight Symphony is a 
summer favourite for over 200,000 
spectators. Every year, the free three- 
hour concert features both symphonic  
and contemporary music, as well as  
the crowd-pleasing Mercury Energy  
Laser Light Show. 
 
Lighting Landmarks
Mercury Energy continues to sponsor 
the electricity cost of lighting Auckland’s 
major landmarks including the Auckland 
Museum, the monument on One Tree 
Hill, Tamaki Drive and the Michael Joseph 
Savage Memorial at Bastion Point, on 
behalf of the Auckland City Council. 

OTHER PROJECTS

In addition to its major sponsorships and 
supported initiatives, Mighty River Power 
and Mercury Energy regularly provide 
smaller grants and in-kind support 
to local organisations. These include 
funding provided to the Taupo Yacht Club, 
Taupo Coastguard, the Lake Taupo Arts 
Festival, Books in Homes, the Gifted Kids 
Programme and the Wetlands Trust.
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Food scraps from the Mercury Energy offices are used  
to feed the worms in the school’s worm farm. By a 
process of alimentary alchemy, the scraps are turned 
into a nutrient-rich fertiliser, which the pupils package 
and sell. Proceeds from last year’s sales paid for the 
annual school camp.

As well as worms and waste, Mercury Energy also 
donated a Native Tree Growing Unit to the school and 
provides more than 1,000 seedlings each year. Carefully 
tended by the pupils, and boosted by worm-derived 
fertiliser, the seedlings spend a year at the school nursery, 
and are then planted out to stabilise land prone to erosion 
and help protect waterways throughout the region.

“It’s great to be involved in teaching kids about the 
environment. Watching the fun these kids are having,  
and seeing the pride and effort behind what they are 
doing, is a real buzz,” says Mighty River Power G-Force 
team member Rowan Robinson, pictured with Ellerslie 
School pupil Sosikeni Lomiga.

FROM DIRT  
TO DOLLARS
Kids, dirt, worms – they go together. And for Mercury Energy, a partnership 
with neighbouring Ellerslie School is helping the business, and its employees, 
to reduce the amount of waste sent to landfill.





“If people fall behind on their bills for whatever reason, 
we do our best to make contact and help sort out how 
customers can stay connected,” says Helen.

“The main thing is to talk to us. If there are medical or 
health issues or financial difficulty – or any other special 
circumstances – get in touch so that we can work 
something out.”

By working with social agencies such as Training and 
Budgeting Services in Papatoetoe, Auckland, and offering 
a range of payment options, the team has helped 
thousands of customers and assisted Mercury Energy  
to considerably reduce the number of disconnections.

Pictured outside the agency are, from left, Dawn Sadd 
from Training and Budgeting Services and Mercury 
Energy Customer Assistance team members Malu 
Semisi and Helen Amituana’i.

NEW  
CUSTOMER 
SOLUTIONS
Changes to Mercury Energy’s credit management process  
are being achieved by a dedicated group - the Customer Assistance  
team led by Helen Amituana’i. 



RETAIL

REDESIGNED  
CUSTOMER PROCESSES

Mighty River Power believes that the 
changes implemented will result in the 
number of customer disconnections 
dropping considerably. Feedback 
received as a result of the steps taken 
has been positive. As such, we have 
confidence the changes made to 
customer procedures not only exceed the 
Electricity Commission’s strengthened 
guidelines for low income and vulnerable 
customers, but provide practical, 
workable solutions for at-risk customers.

Mercury Energy has established a 
dedicated Customer Assistance team 
to work with community organisations 
on behalf of vulnerable customers. 
A dedicated web portal will provide 
immediate online access to approved 
social agencies, enabling them to assist 
clients in managing their electricity 
accounts. A customer team within the 
business is equipped to provide referrals 
for customers experiencing difficulties 
to social agencies for assistance. 
 

Overdue bills, credit letters and 
automated phone calls have been 
redesigned to make information clear for 
customers, detailing the steps customers 
can take to avoid disconnection. Mercury 
Energy is also providing information in a 
range of languages, including  Cantonese, 
Cook Island Maori, Japanese, Maori, 
Samoan and Tongan. 

Mercury Energy has introduced more 
flexible payment and part-payment 
options on overdue power bills. These 
include instalment plans, extension 
of payment dates, the option of either 
having a prepay meter installed, or 
going onto the Smooth Bill (available 
in conjunction with a social agency) 
which is designed to assist customers 
in budgeting by billing them a fixed 
amount each month. Mercury Energy has 
also created a new Friends and Family 
option which allows for payments to 
be made on other people’s accounts. 

Alongside changes to customer 
communications and payment options, 
the business has also confirmed 
the disconnection guidelines for 
its contractors. These include 
instructions not to disconnect if any 
doubt exists around a disconnection. 

A further change to business processes 
has been made to ensure a personal 
phone call, and if required a personal 
visit, will be made to customers with 
overdue accounts in the week before 
a scheduled disconnection. These 
contacts will help the business to 
establish whether hardship or medical 
dependency exists. Payment options will 
be discussed with those facing financial 
hardship. No disconnection will take place 
in situations of medical dependence. 
 

The retail business has been the focus of significant attention 
during past months. Following close consultation with a  
range of social and health agencies, along with community 
groups, we have redesigned the procedures for dealing with 
vulnerable and medically dependent customers. 
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Customer Convenience
A number of other initiatives were 
undertaken this year to improve customer 
services and to make bill payment more 
convenient for customers. Paperless 
Direct Debit was launched in 2006, 
following a successful trial with ASB 
Bank. The service allows customers 
to arrange direct debt bill payments 
over the phone or through the Mercury 
Energy web site. Paperless Direct Debit 
makes arranging this payment option 
quicker and easier as customers no 
longer have to submit signed forms. It 
is also more environmentally friendly.

Price Plan Rebate Benefits Customers
The Price Plan Rebate service continues 
to provide customers with certainty 
that they’ll never pay too much for their 
electricity through being on the wrong 
price plan for their usage. The Price Plan 
Rebate service checks on an annual basis 
whether residential customers are on 
the best price plan for their electricity 
usage. If the business finds that a different 
plan would have delivered better value 
for the customer over the previous 
12 months, the service automatically 
credits the difference and moves the 
account to the best price plan for the 
entire period. In the last year, the service 
automatically credited more than $1.5 
million back to customers, giving them 
confidence that they will never pay more 
for their electricity than they should. 

Website
The business continued to add new 
functionality to its web site to make 
interaction with Mercury Energy more 
convenient. It is now much quicker 
and easier for new customers to join 
online, and for existing customers to 
arrange to move their energy account 
to a new address. The site also now 
features a dynamic question and 
answer function that makes it simpler 
for customers to quickly find the 
information they are looking for. 

Contact Centre Excellence 
For the third year in a row, Mercury 
Energy won the highly coveted Customer 
Relationship Management (CRM) 
award for best customer service 
in the energy retail industry. The 
business also won the silver award for 
best contact centre with more than 
50 seats in New Zealand. Mercury 
Energy’s busy contact centre employs 
more than 100 people and receives 
approximately 2,500 enquiries per day. 

Gaining Market Share
Mercury Energy gained market share for 
the fifth year in a row through strategies 
to diversify into new areas, developing 
new products and increasing commercial 
contracts. Mercury Energy entered the 
Wellington and Christchurch areas, 
providing customers with greater choice 
of energy retailers. An innovative new 
price plan for residential customers 
was launched for the first time in these 
areas. Mercury Energy’s Fixed Price 
Plans were the first in the New Zealand 
market to fix both the energy and lines 
component of prices for a three-year 
period for residential customers. 

During the year Mercury Energy increased 
its total electricity customer base by 
10,000. Retail electricity customers total 
340,000 in 2007, compared with 271,000 
when the company was formed in 1999.

New commercial and industrial 
contracts also continued to grow. 
Mercury Energy supplies electricity 
to business customers anywhere in 
the country. This gives customers the 
convenience of having the bills for 
multiple premises on one statement, 
and the simplicity of working with one 
retailer across their entire business. 

Mighty River Power’s 49 percent 
investment in niche electricity retailer 
EzyNetworks was completed during 
the financial year. EzyNetworks 
provides bundled electricity, phone 
and internet services to Auckland’s 
inner city apartment residents. 
Following our investment, EzyNetworks 
increased its customer numbers 
from 1,000 to 6,000 at year end.

Dual Fuel
Retail Customer Numbers

 2007 2006 Dec 1999

Gas 29,000 24,000 N/A 
Electricity 340,000  330,000 271,000 

Retail gas customers increased to 
29,000, achieving a 36 percent market 
share in Greater Auckland since 
entering the gas business in 2003. 
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Smart metering will pave the way 
for innovative product offerings from 
retailers that better suit customer 
lifestyles and individual needs, such as 
pre-pay and other more flexible billing 
and pricing options. Approximately 
4,000 Mercury Energy customers in 
Auckland’s eastern suburbs were the 
first to be fitted with the smart meters 
and trials will commence with two other 
retailers in the second half of 2007. 

A full deployment of smart meters   will 
be rolled out to some 350,000 homes 
over the next few years supporting 
multiple retailers. Metrix has teamed 
up with US-based Elster Electricity, 
one of the leading manufacturers of 
metering solutions to the gas, electricity 
and water industries, to deliver the 
technology which will transform both 
the metering and retail businesses.

Smart meters utilise radio signals to 
communicate with collector meters, 
which then relay the information from 
up to 500 metres back to a centralised 
data management system, via cellular 
technology. This avoids the need for 
meter readers to have regular access 
to homes or business premises. As well 
as offering customers greater privacy, 
smart meters have the potential to deliver 
a variety of other benefits to customers 
and retailers, including a range of 
pre-pay options to help customers 
budget, alert them when credit is getting 
low, and provide emergency top-ups.

Smart meters record electricity usage 
by the half hour, as opposed to relying 
on physical readings once a month. The 
technology will bring greater accuracy 
and efficiency to electricity readings. 
Meter problems can be picked up in 
real time and remedied quickly.

In deploying the new technology, Metrix 
is looking to the future. It has invested 
significantly in a computer system to 
facilitate automated meter readings, 
which can analyse data and translate it 
into any format required by electricity 
retailers including Mercury Energy. Once 
the automated system is fully operational, 
meter readings will move from one a 
month to 48 readings a day, providing 
an immense amount of data across 
each retailer’s customer base, which 
can potentially be used to tailor pricing 
plans to suit customers’ requirements.

Longer-term, customers could have 
greater information about the real time 
cost of using electricity through the 
provision of ‘time of use’ information on 
the price of electricity at any point in the 
day. They could also track their usage 
or take advantage of the best pricing 
plans for their needs through a variety of 
communications channels such as meter 
display panels in homes, or via websites 
or mobile phone messaging. Retailers 
may be able to offer more flexible and 
imaginative pricing plans such as off peak 
or weekend specials as in the mobile 
phone market. Ultimately, this may lead 
to changes in electricity consumption 
patterns in response to market prices, 
and assist in reducing peak demand.

In 2007, Metrix carried out more than 5 million meter reads, 
up from 4.7 million in the previous year. Deployment of 
smart metering technology, allowing two-way electronic 
communication between electricity retailers and customers’ 
meters, is just one of the innovative developments being 
rolled out by the business to deliver innovative new options  
to retailers and their consumers.

METERING

INVESTING 
IN 
INNOVATION
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Resource Consents
The Company has a strong track record 
of consulting widely with communities 
and organisations with an interest in the 
natural resources relating to its business, 
and has established long-lasting 
relationships to ensure the fragile balance 
of these resources remain sustainable.
The Company is required to fulfil a range 
of regulatory conditions. The Company 
views these obligations as a minimum. 

Hydro: Mighty River Power’s 35 year 
resource consents, to operate the 
Waikato Hydro System and Lake Taupo, 
were finalised in 2006. A total of 18 
resource consents, with more than 150 
conditions, control the Waikato Hydro 
System. These include consents to use, 
upgrade and maintain structures on 
the bed of the Waikato River; dam the 
Waikato River and divert and take water 
for generation of hydro electricity; and to 
discharge water to the Waikato River. An 
enormous emphasis is placed on ensuring 
compliance with these complex consent 
conditions. Efforts have led to a successful 
first year of operation under the new 
conditions, with just a few minor technical 
non-compliances related to equipment 
failure which were quickly rectified.

Bioenergy: Resource consents for power 
stations at Rosedale, Silverstream and 
Greenmount specify such things as 
atmospheric discharge limits. The three 
stations were 100 percent compliant with 
the consents.

Geothermal: More than 30 consents 
at Rotokawa and Mokai authorise the 
operation of these geothermal power 
stations including restrictions on the 
amount of geothermal fluid that can be 
taken from under the ground. There 
were no consent breaches at either site.

Cogeneration: The gas-fired plant at 
Southdown has consents in place relating 
to land use and emissions. There was no 
breach of land use consents during the 
year. Continuous monitoring of emissions 
and recording emission levels averaged 
over each ten-minute period is one of the 
consent requirements. A total of 39 air 
discharge reportable events occurred. 
These short term events (each less than 
10 minutes) were caused by the plant 
responding to short-term consumer 
demand changes and measurement 
equipment failures which were quickly 
rectified. Quarterly reports of non-
compliance periods have been accepted 
by the Auckland Regional Council.
 

ENVIRONMENT

PRESERVING  
FOR FUTURE  
GENERATIONS

Mighty River Power’s activities are intrinsically linked with the 
environment in which it operates. As an electricity generator 
and retailer, Mighty River Power is committed to managing 
wisely and sustainably the resources on which it depends to 
help meet the country’s energy needs. The Company is also 
committed internally to sustainable business practices and 
environmentally responsible operation.

MIGHTY RIVER POWER LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2007MIGHTY RIVER POWER LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2007 .39



Stakeholder Engagement
Mighty River Power is committed to building strong 
relationships with stakeholders in the regions it 
which it operates. In 2007 the Company: 

• continued to consult with stakeholders at every stage  
of each new generation project, from initial assessment, 
through consenting and project development.

• established a peer review panel and systems under 
the Resource Management Act to enable stakeholders 
to review and monitor how we implement our 35 
year consents for the Waikato Hydro System. 

• provided ongoing support to peer review panels for 
Mokai and Rotokawa that meet on an annual basis 
and review steamfield / reservoir performance on 
behalf of  Environment Waikato. A peer review panel for 
Kawerau has also been established in the last year.

• continued to build relationships with a wide range of 
community organisations, and held a well-attended briefing 
in Hamilton for stakeholders to keep them informed 
of developments in the Company and the industry. 

• celebrated the 50th anniversary of the construction 
of the Whakamaru Dam with members of the 
Mangakino community, general public and 
representatives of other groups and iwi.

Efficient Use of Water
Water is a highly valued resource and is in high demand, and 
the Company uses it as efficiently as possible. An area the 
Company monitors is the amount of water that is released 
without generating electricity – known as hydro spill. Hydro 
spill is usually due to plant malfunction, plant testing or planned 
or unplanned outages. The table below shows how much 
electricity was lost (in Gigawatt hours) and the key reasons for 
the spill. Only 2 GWh (or 0.05%) of energy production was lost 
due to spill other than that discharged for tourism purposes 
required under the conditions of the resource consents.
 
Waikato Hydro Spill
 

 2007 2006 

 GWh GWh

Tourism* 11 10
Plant** 0.7 16
Hydraulic Constraint*** 1 -
Other**** 0.3 1
Total Energy Lost 13 27

* Mighty River Power has a regulatory requirement to schedule   
 daily releases down the Aratiatia rapids for tourism purposes. 

** Hydro spill due to a plant malfunction, or from plant    
 testing, or from planned or unplanned outages 

*** Hydraulic constraint due to capacity differences with some hydraulically   
 coupled schemes, requiring additional water bypass to maintain output. 

**** Other includes transmission constraint, cost and obstruction

ENVIRONMENT

PRESERVING 
FOR FUTURE
GENERATIONS
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Recreational Water Releases
The Waikato Hydro System gives enormous pleasure to 
thousands of recreational users each year and the Company 
works hard to accommodate requests from a large number 
of community and recreational organisations to release water 
for activities calling for special lake levels or water flows. 
Recreational water releases often represent lost income for 
the Company for the benefit of the community. In 2007, 27 
organisations submitted a combined total of 80 level or flow 
requests. Mighty River Power was able to deliver on 76 of these.

Water Releases
 

Organisation         Actioned Water Release Days

Auckland University Canoe Club  3 
Boathouse 8 Events Ltd  2 
Cambridge Waikato Power Boat Club  1 
Eastern Fish & Game Council  4 
Game Bird Hunters Club  2 
Hamilton City Council  3 
Huka Jet  1 
Ironman NZ Ltd  1 
Karapiro Rowing Inc  18 
LINZ  2 
Manukau Canoe Club  2 
Taupo District Council  2 
Nga Kaihoe O Aotearoa  6 
Ngaruawahia Regatta Committee  2 
NI Womens Paddlers  1 
NZ Hydroplane Driver Club  3 
NZ Water Ski Racing Association Inc  2 
Pairere Water Ski Club  2 
Rapids Jet  11 
Rapids Sensation Taupo Kayak School  1 
Rotota Sun Club  1 
Waikato-Tainui  1 
Waikato Tournament Water Ski Association 2 
Waipa District Council  1 
White Water Slalom NZ  2 

A Focus on Renewables
As an electricity generator and retailer with a high dependence 
on renewable resources for generation, the Company takes its 
environmental responsibilities seriously. Mighty River Power 
acknowledges and shares the concerns of others with regard to 
the implications of climate change. Through activities such as 
the Company’s significant investment in geothermal exploration, 
with construction of Kawerau now underway, the assembly of a 
world class team to investigate opportunities in wind, and the 
ongoing focus on hydro – Mighty River Power is demonstrating 
its commitment to the pursuit of sustainable energy forms.

The Company’s bioenergy plants capture methane gas from 
landfills and turn it into electricity and at the same time create 
a significant reduction in greenhouse gas emissions that would 
naturally occur at these landfills. This year, the plants emitted 
51,068 tonnes of CO2. However, the production of electricity 
through these plants avoided the emission of 11,486 tonnes of 
methane, equivalent to 241,202 tonnes of CO2, a net reduction 
in greenhouse gas emissions of 190,134 tonnes of CO2.

Geothermal fields have naturally occuring greenhouse 
gases, and generation activity brings forward emissions. 
The level of emission varies by geothermal field, but is 
significantly lower than all thermal generation forms. 

The Company’s greenhouse gas emissions come primarily 
from the gas-fired generation plant at Southdown. The need for 
this form of generation is driven by both demand and weather 
conditions. In particular, it augments hydro when inflows are low.

Initiatives have been taken within the business to reduce non-
generation greenhouse gas emissions, and reduce our carbon 
footprint. The Company also actively promotes energy efficiency, 
through initiatives such as Mercury Energy’s Ecobulb campaign, 
to encourage customers to reduce their carbon footprint.
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Environmental Contribution of the Business
Mighty River Power’s Group Environmental Policy defines 
the Company’s commitment to sustainable business 
practices and environmentally responsible operation. As 
part of the Company’s commitment to overall environmental 
sustainability, it uses the Enviro-Mark global standard to 
evaluate environmental performance. Enviro-Mark NZ provides 
businesses with a framework to systematically assess 
their performance against agreed standards. Achievement 
of each standard is verified by an external audit to provide 
complete objectivity in the certification process. Enviro-Mark 
NZ has five standards, of which Diamond is the highest.

As of this year, all parts of the Company have attained the 
Diamond standard, making Mighty River Power the only 
New Zealand energy company to have its whole business 
certified to this exacting high standard by an external agency. 
Achieving the Diamond standard required robust auditing of 
processes and procedures, and the environmental aspects 
and impacts (risks) of the business at all operational sites. 

A number of work streams were involved in the year-long process 
of bringing the Generation business up to the Diamond standard. 
These included ensuring that the business complied with all 
consents and other legal requirements; that environmental 
targets aligned to the Company’s environmental policy, 
environmental objectives and risks; that all staff were aware of 
their environmental responsibilities; and that relevant and up-to-
date procedures were in place to ensure ongoing compliance and 
accountability. The independent Enviro-Mark audit provides a 
valuable external mechanism which acknowledges and monitors 
our continuous improvement and commitment to sustainability.
 

ENVIRONMENT

PRESERVING
FOR FUTURE
GENERATIONS

Generation
CO2 Emissions
 2007 2007 2007 2006 2006 2006

 CO2  GWh CO2  CO2  GWh CO2  
 Emissions   Intensity Emissions  Intensity  
 (tonnes)  (tonnes/GWh) (tonnes)  (tonnes/GWh)

Geothermal*  43,556 493 88 46,922 483 97
Cogeneration  289,074   589  491 368,145 876 420
Bioenergy   51,068 57 896 55,440 63 880
 
*   Reported on equity share basis in all businesses where we have a minority interest. 
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G-Force Programme
This company-wide environmental management initiative 
sets internal measures and monitors outcomes and is 
designed to encourage all staff to embrace sustainability 
values. The programme encourages recycling and 
energy efficiency at all sites. A number of initiatives 
are supported as part of the G-Force programme.

Ellerslie School Worm Farm
In 2006, Mercury Energy donated a worm farm to Ellerslie 
School. The school is located next to the Mercury Energy  
office and forms part of its local community. The objective  
of the worm farm is to teach young people about recycling in  
a fun and interactive way. It also allows the school and Company 
to reduce the amount of rubbish being sent to landfill; staff 
donate their scraps to the worm farm. Ellerslie School and 
Mercury Energy combined produce approximately 150 litres  
of food scraps each week. The fertiliser produced by the worms  
is used by the school on its own gardens, and sold as a 
fundraising initiative.

Ellerslie School Tree Planting Unit
In February 2007 Mercury Energy donated a native tree growing 
unit to Ellerslie School. The objective is to teach students about 
horticulture and the environment. The new unit contains all 
the equipment needed to raise up to 1,500 trees each year. 
The trees are used by the school to raise money, and are also 
planted by Mercury Energy staff in areas at risk of erosion. 

Staff Tree Planting Day
As part of the Company’s commitment to being an 
environmentally responsible business, employees can participate 
each year in a tree planting day. This allows employees to 
become involved in an environmental initiative which contributes 
to a better physical environment for the community. On 
average, employees plant about 2,000 trees on the day.

Carbon Footprint
Environmental monitoring has been implemented across the 
Company. Mighty River Power’s carbon footprint for the year 
for all areas has been calculated as 1,362.6 tonnes CO2e. 
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Tania Simpson was appointed a Director of Mighty River 
Power in November 2001 and is the founding Director of 
Maori policy adviser, Kowhai Consulting. She is of Ngati 
Maniapoto and Ngati Manu descent and lives in the Maniapoto 
district. She has previously held management positions 
in Housing Corporation, Ministry of Maori Development 
and Office of Treaty Settlements and has worked on social 
policy, economic development and Treaty-related matters. 

Trevor Janes was appointed to the Board in June 2005.  
Trevor is an investment banker and financial analyst. He is 
the Chairman of Trinity Hill, a Hawkes Bay based winery 
and Deputy Chair of Abano Healthcare. He also sits on 
the Investment Committee of the Board of the Accident 
Compensation Corporation. Trevor is a Chartered Accountant, 
a Fellow of the Institute of Directors and of the Institute of 
Financial Professionals NZ Inc and a member of the CFA 
Institute (USA) at UK Society of Investment Professionals.

Sir Paul Reeves was appointed a Director of Mighty River 
Power in November 2006. This role follows his position as the 
foundation Chair of the Bioethics Council. Sir Paul is a Trustee 
of the Wellington Tenth’s Trust (a Maori landholding trust in 
the Wellington region), Chair of the Tautoko Maori Trust and 
Chancellor of the Auckland University of Technology. He belongs 
to the Puketapu hapu of Te Atiawa. From 1985 until 1990 Sir 
Paul was Governor General of New Zealand. Following this he 
was the Anglican Observer at the United Nations until 1993.

Carole Durbin is the Chair of Mighty River Power. She was 
formerly the Deputy Chair of the Board and was a member 
of the original establishment group for the Company. She 
is a Fellow of the Institute of Directors, Chair of the Legal 
Services Agency, a Director and Trustee of the Southern Cross 
Healthcare Group, a Director of Fidelity Life Assurance and a 
Commissioner on the Board of the Earthquake Commission. 
Carole is a former partner of law firm Simpson Grierson.

THE BOARD

FROM LEFT TO RIGHT:
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John Baird, Deputy Chair, joined the Board of Mighty River 
Power in May 2004 and is Chairman of the Remuneration 
Committee. He is a member of the Waitangi Tribunal and is a 
Director of Motion Industries and Sleepyhead. John has been 
Managing Director of several consumer products businesses. 

Neil Ranford was appointed a Director of Mighty River Power 
in November 2006. He brings with him extensive general 
management experience in the construction industry. Neil 
has an engineering background and has previously held 
senior roles at Fletcher Challenge and as CEO of Mainzeal 
Property and Construction Ltd. Neil is a Director of 
Waitakere Properties Ltd and of Roses Alterations Ltd.

Patrick Strange was appointed a Director of Mighty 
River Power in June 2006. Patrick, who holds a PhD in 
Engineering, has held a number of senior executive roles 
in both the United States and New Zealand. In his last 
management role he was Chief Executive of Vector Limited, 
New Zealand’s largest electricity network company. 

Sandy (Samford) Maier is the Chairman of the Audit Committee. 
He worked in international commercial and investment banking 
with Citicorp/Citibank for 15 years in various management 
positions in the Caribbean, South America and Australasia. He 
has lived and worked in New Zealand since 1986, serving on the 
Board of Bank of New Zealand and as the Statutory Manager of 
DFC New Zealand, for which he received a 1990 Commemoration 
Medal for services to New Zealand. For the past 10 years, 
he has had his own international management consulting 
firm specialising in corporate strategy and governance, and 
financial and human resource issues. He has served as Chief 
Executive and Board member of a number of companies, and 
has been a Director of Mighty River Power since April 2002. 

Caroline Ball (absent) was appointed a Director of Mighty 
River Power in November 2002. She has extensive 
experience in New Zealand’s energy industry having been 
Chief Executive of Fitzroy Worley, and General Manager 
Transmission at Natural Gas Corporation. Caroline is 
Managing Director of Strategic Developments, a consulting 
firm specialising in business growth issues and investments. 
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FROM LEFT TO RIGHT:
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Greg Raasch General Manager Geothermal 
Greg joined Mighty River Power in January 2004 after 
spending 30 years in geothermal exploration and development 
around the world. His role has been to establish internal 
competencies across all geothermal activities. He was 
previously the Programme Manager responsible for creating 
a Geothermal Division within the state-owned oil company 
in Chile. He was the Operations Manager for a 756MW 
geothermal generating facility in the Philippines and has 
developed geothermal and natural gas-fired power plants 
in North America, Latin America and South East Asia.

John Foote General Manager Generation 
John’s main focus is to oversee the generation activities  
of the Company including development, construction and 
operations. He has over 25 years experience in general 
management roles including 15 years in the electricity sector. 
He was previously Chief Operations Manager with Power New 
Zealand Limited and prior to joining the electricity industry, was 
involved in the construction industry, which included a number 
of large overseas industrial and infrastructural projects.

Olwen Hyslop Group Human Resources Manager  
Olwen was appointed Group Human Resources Manager 
in January 2004 having previously held the position of 
Human Resources Manager for Mercury Energy. She has 
extensive experience in Human Resources and Organisation 
Development having previously headed up Human Resource 
functions for large corporates in the health, logistics and 
energy sectors in New Zealand. In addition to this background, 
her senior line management and training and development 
experience in the financial services industry provides a 
wealth of leadership and culture development expertise.

Doug Heffernan Chief Executive 
Doug was appointed Chief Executive in December 1998. 
Previously, he was Chief Executive of Power New Zealand  
Limited from 1991 to 1997. He is a Director of the Tuaropaki Power 
Company and an Executive Council member of the NZ Business 
Council for Sustainable Development. The Government appointed 
Doug to the Ministerial Advisory Group on the Sustainable Water 
Programme of Action. He is also a Director of K2010, the governing 
body for the 2010 World Rowing Championship at Karapiro.



James Moulder General Manager Sales 
James is responsible for the management of the Company’s  
sales activities which supply residential, commercial 
and industrial customers. He is also responsible for the 
optimal utilisation of the Company’s generation portfolio 
within the wholesale market, consistent with defined risk 
management policies. James joined Mighty River Power 
following experience in financial markets and strategic and 
financial consulting work in the Australian energy sector. 
He brings extensive business experience in managing 
risk, commodity trading and financial management.

Neil Williams Group Strategist 
Neil previously headed our trading area and has over  
15 years experience in the New Zealand electricity 
industry across retailing, distribution and trading. His 
responsibilities include identifying opportunities emerging 
from market change and policy development. In his role 
he guides our strategic industry policy, relationships with 
central government, iwi and other stakeholders. He is also 
responsible for public relations and media communications.

Ken Bugden Chief Financial Officer 
Ken joined Mighty River Power in October 2006 bringing over 
30 years of experience in management roles across a range 
of industries in manufacturing, distribution and retailing; 
most recently as Chief Financial Officer for public company 
Waste Management NZ Ltd. Ken heads both the finance 
and information services functions with a focus on process 
improvement, financial analysis of capital expenditure, 
treasury, external and internal reporting and governance.
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Mighty River Power operates under a corporate governance 
framework, consisting of its legal requirements (under such 
legislation as the Companies Act 1993 and the State-Owned 
Enterprises Act 1986), and formal and informal practices 
adopted by the Board of Directors. These include the Board 
Charter, the Code of Ethics, Audit Committee Terms of 
Reference, Remuneration Committee Terms of Reference and 
the Trading Disclosure Policy – Company Securities. The Board 
is responsible for corporate governance of the Company – in 
other words, the direction and control that is undertaken by the 
Directors of the Company and also for their accountabilities to 
shareholders and others for the Company’s performance and  
its compliance with appropriate laws and standards.

Role of the Board
The Board is responsible for the overall direction of Mighty 
River Power’s business and other activities on behalf of 
shareholding Ministers. The Company’s principal objectives 
are to operate as a successful business and to be:

• as profitable and efficient as comparable 
businesses not owned by the Crown;

• an employer that operates policies which are 
judged to be fair and equitable in their treatment 
of all staff in all aspects of their employment;

• an organisation that displays an informed sense of social 
responsibility by having regard to the interests of the 
communities in which the Company operates and by 
supporting these communities when able to do so;

• a leader in achieving the objectives of sustainable 
development – working to achieve sustainable development 
for the communities in which the Company operates 
through world’s best management of generation resources.

 

Board Membership
The Board is made up of nine non-executive Directors. Profiles 
of the individual Directors can be found on pages 44 and 45.

Board Meetings
The full Board met 14 times during the year. For the year ended 
30 June 2007, Board meetings were attended as follows:

Carole Durbin (Chair) 13  
John Baird (Deputy Chair)  10 
Caroline Ball*  9 
Trevor Janes  14 
Sandy Maier 13 
Neil Ranford (from 1 Nov 2006]  11 
Sir Paul Reeves (from 1 Nov 2006] 11 
Tania Simpson 13 
Patrick Strange  14 
Ian Fraser (resigned 31 Oct 2006) 3 

* Caroline Ball was granted leave of absence from 1 May – 31 July 2007.

Board Committees
To assist Directors to carry out their duties, the Board has three 
standing committees. Other ad hoc committees may be formed 
from time to time.

Audit Committee
This committee comprises Sandy Maier (Chairman), Caroline 
Ball, Trevor Janes and Neil Ranford with Carole Durbin as an 
ex-officio member. It met four times during the year. The Audit 
Committee’s role is to assist the Board in fulfilling its duties 
and responsibilities around the establishment and continued 
effectiveness of the Company’s policies, practices, procedures 
and internal control systems. The committee also reviews the 
performances of internal and external auditors. Internal audit 
is outsourced to Deloitte. All Directors are invited to attend 
Audit Committee meetings and are provided with copies of 
meeting minutes and any reports received by the committee.

Remuneration Committee
This committee comprises all Directors with John Baird as 
Chairman. It met four times during the financial year. The 
Remuneration Committee’s primary role is to consider 
organisational matters and remuneration policies concerning 
the Company’s employees, including the Chief Executive.
 

CORPORATE 
GOVERNANCE
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Generation Development Committee
This committee comprises all Board members and is chaired 
by Carole Durbin. It met 10 times during the financial year. The 
Generation Development Committee’s role is to oversee the 
Company’s extensive generation development programme 
and to evaluate and monitor proposed exploration activities.

Board Performance Review
Each year, the Board evaluates the performance of the Board 
as a whole and of the Chair. This is done using a variety of 
techniques including external consultants, questionnaires 
and Board discussion. The Chair’s performance is reviewed 
by all Directors and is then discussed with the Chair.
 
Planning
The Board held a strategic planning session and other  
review sessions this year. It also approved the Company’s 
draft Statement of Corporate Intent for shareholder approval, 
business plan, and budgets as part of its normal functions.
 
Risk Management
It is a Board responsibility to identify and control the Company’s 
business risks. Major policies which are subject to the Board’s 
approval and review include capital investment, treasury, 
electricity trading and risk management, accounting and 
financial, insurance and delegated authority limits. As part 
of managing its broader risk profile, the Board recognises 
the importance of full compliance with laws controlling 
environmental activities, management of natural resources, 
health and safety in employment, working conditions within 
buildings and customer health and safety. The Board 
monitors the Company’s compliance with relevant statutes 
through the regular reports it receives from management.

 

Auditor Independence
The Board’s policy on auditor independence from management 
places responsibility for managing the relationship with the  
Audit Committee.

During the year the Board reviewed the Company’s relationship 
with the auditor of the financial statements, Warren Allen of 
Ernst & Young, on behalf of the Auditor-General. This review 
confirmed the present audit arrangements and noted no need  
to change them.

The Audit Committee also reviewed the scope of services 
provided to Mighty River Power by Warren Allen of Ernst & Young.
 
Responsibility Statement
The Board of Directors has responsibility for ensuring the 
Company has effective policies in place to manage its risks. 
The Board decides the level and nature of the risks which are 
acceptable to the Company. The Chief Executive has overall 
responsibility for the day to day running of the Company 
and the day to day management of normal business risk.
 
Statement of Corporate Intent
In accordance with its obligations under the State-Owned 
Enterprises Act, the Company publishes an annual Statement 
of Corporate Intent as approved by its shareholders, which 
communicates the goals and strategies of the Company 
and outlines its expected performance. This document also 
contributes to Mighty River Power’s disclosure obligations.
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FINANCIAL  
AND COMMERCIAL  
PERFORMANCE  
TARGETS

Our objective is to increase shareholder value at a rate similar to the increases in market value achieved by comparable private sector 
companies. Our Statement of Corporate Intent sets out our financial and non-financial performance targets. Our achievements against 
targets for the 2007 financial year were as follows:
     

   2007 Actual 2007 Target

FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE TARGETS
Return on Average Shareholders’ Equity (%)   5.3  5.1
Total Equity/ Total Assets (%)   75.0  73.6
Net Debt/ Net Debt plus Equity (%)   16.6  20.5
Free Funds from Operations/ Interest Expense (times)   8.1  6.7

NON-FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE TARGETS
Safety – Frequency (lost time accidents per 100,000 hours worked)   0.05  <1.25
Environmental Performance1 (%)   100  100
Customer switching to Industry standards (%)   100  100
Customer Contacts per year2   2.6  <2.5
Plant Availability (%)   93.0  >93.0
Forced Outage Rate3 (%)   2.1  <2.0

1  No enforcements by regulatory authorities arising from a breach  
 of environmental standards and controls. 
2  Customer contacts were slightly above target due to dividend payment changes  
 by the Auckland Energy Consumer Trust, increases in customer inquiries about  
 medical dependence and vulnerability, and Vector’s extended power outage  
 during adverse weather in June. 
3 Forced outage rates were slightly above target due to the high level  
 of commissioning activity at Southdown.
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The Directors are responsible for ensuring that the financial 
statements comply with generally accepted accounting practices 
and represent a true and fair view of Mighty River Power 
Limited’s financial position as at 30 June 2007, and of the financial 
performance and cash flows for the current financial year.

The Directors consider that the Group and Company’s financial 
statements have been prepared using the appropriate accounting 
policies, that these have been consistently applied and are 
supported by reasonable judgements and estimates, and that all 
relevant financial and accounting standards have been followed.

The Directors believe that proper accounting records have been 
kept which allow for the determination of the Company’s financial 
position with reasonable accuracy, and that the financial 
statements themselves comply with the Financial Reporting Act 
1993 and the Companies Act 1993.

The Directors consider that they have taken adequate steps to 
safeguard the Company’s assets and to prevent and, where 
necessary, detect fraud and any other irregularities.

The Auditor-General is required to be the Company’s auditor,  
and has appointed Mr Warren Allen of Ernst & Young to 
undertake the audit on his behalf.

The Directors are pleased to present Mighty River Power 
Limited’s annual report and financial statements for the year 
ended 30 June 2007.

Carole Durbin John Baird
Chair Deputy Chair
29 August 2007 29 August 2007

DIRECTORS’  
RESPONSIBILITY  
STATEMENT
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AUDIT REPORT

To the readers of Mighty River Power Limited and Group’s
financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2007

The Auditor-General is the auditor of Mighty River Power Limited 
(the Company) and Group. The Auditor-General has appointed me, 
Warren Allen, using the staff and resources of Ernst & Young, to 
carry out the audit of the financial statements of the Company and 
Group, on his behalf, for the year ended 30 June 2007. 

Unqualified Opinion
In our opinion: 

• The financial statements of the Company and Group  
 on pages 56 to 79:
 
 • comply with generally accepted accounting practice  
  in New Zealand; and
  
 • give a true and fair view of:
   • the Company and Group’s financial position  
    as at 30 June 2007; and
   • the results of operations and cash flows for the year  
    ended on that date. 

• Based on our examination the Company and Group kept  
 proper accounting records.

The audit was completed on 29 August 2007, and is the date at 
which our opinion is expressed.

The basis of our opinion is explained below. In addition, we outline 
the responsibilities of the Board of Directors and the Auditor, and 
explain our independence.

Basis of Opinion
We carried out the audit in accordance with the Auditor-General’s 
Auditing Standards, which incorporate the New Zealand  
Auditing Standards.

We planned and performed the audit to obtain all the information 
and explanations we considered necessary in order to obtain 
reasonable assurance that the financial statements did not have 
material misstatements, whether caused by fraud or error.

Material misstatements are differences or omissions of 
amounts and disclosures that would affect a reader’s overall 
understanding of the financial statements. If we had found material 
misstatements that were not corrected, we would have referred to 
them in our opinion.

The audit involved performing procedures to test the information 
presented in the financial statements. We assessed the results of 
those procedures in forming our opinion.

Audit procedures generally include:

 • determining whether significant financial and  
  management controls are working and can be relied  
  on to produce complete and accurate data;
 • verifying samples of transactions and account balances;
 • performing analyses to identify anomalies in the  
  reported data;
 • reviewing significant estimates and judgements made  
  by the Board of Directors;
 • confirming year-end balances;
 • determining whether accounting policies are appropriate  
  and consistently applied; and
 • determining whether all required disclosures 
  are adequate.
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We did not examine every transaction, nor do we guarantee 
complete accuracy of the financial statements.

We evaluated the overall adequacy of the presentation of 
information in the financial statements. We obtained all the 
information and explanations we required to support our  
opinion above.

Responsibilities of the Board of Directors and the Auditor
The Board of Directors is responsible for preparing financial 
statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting 
practice in New Zealand. Those financial statements must give 
a true and fair view of the financial position of the Company and 
Group as at 30 June 2007. They must also give a true and fair view 
of the results of operations and cash flows for the year ended on 
that date. The Board of Directors responsibilities arise from the 
State-Owned Enterprises Act 1986 and the Financial Reporting  
Act 1993. 

We are responsible for expressing an independent opinion on 
the financial statements and reporting that opinion to you. This 
responsibility arises from section 15 of the Public Audit Act 2001 
and section 19 (1) of the State-Owned Enterprises Act 1986. 

Independence
When carrying out the audit we followed the independence 
requirements of the Auditor-General, which incorporate the 
independence requirements of the New Zealand Institute of 
Chartered Accountants.

In addition to the audit we have carried out assignments in the area 
of International Financial Reporting Standards Advisory, which are 
compatible with those independence requirements. Other than 
the audit and these assignments, we have no relationship with or 
interests in the Company or any of its subsidiaries.

Warren Allen
Ernst & Young
On behalf of the Auditor-General
Auckland, New Zealand

Matters relating to the Electronic Presentation of the Audited Financial Statements

This audit report relates to the financial statements of Mighty River Power Limited 
(the Company) and group for the year ended 30 June 2007 included on the company’s 
website. The Board of Directors is responsible for the maintenance and integrity of 
the company’s website. We have not been engaged to report on the integrity of the 
company’s website.

We accept no responsibility for any changes that may have occurred to the financial 
statements since they were initially presented on the website.

The audit report refers only to the financial statements named above. It does not 
provide an opinion on any other information which may have been hyperlinked to 
/ from these financial statements. If readers of this report are concerned with the 
inherent risks arising from electronic data communication they should refer to the 
published hard copy of the audited financial statements and related audit report 
dated 29 August 2007 to confirm the information included in the audited financial 
statements presented on this website.

Legislation in New Zealand governing the preparation and dissemination of financial 
statements may differ from legislation in other jurisdictions.
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  Group Parent

  2007  2006 2007  2006

 Note $000  $000 $000  $000

     
Sales  1,038,734 1,255,385 984,593 1,150,436 
Less line and metering charges  (280,921) (257,730) (280,921) (257,730)
Interest income  8,864 2,501 11,329 5,355
Other revenue  11,041 11,781 12,632 13,829
Operating revenue 2 777,718 1,011,937 727,633 911,890
     

Earnings before interest, tax, depreciation and amortisation  314,214 304,006 311,840 263,684
Depreciation and amortisation 3 (88,293) (83,543) (74,373) (70,622)
Interest income  8,864 2,501 11,329 5,355
Interest expense 3 (35,248) (37,147) (35,214) (37,055)
Impaired exploration expenditure 3 (19,607) (17,532) 1,460 (17,532)
Non-recurring items 4 1,295 0 1,295 0
Share of associate companies net surplus / (deficit)  3,249 4,156 (30) 0
Surplus before taxation 3 184,474 172,441 216,307 143,830
Taxation expense 5 (72,119) (71,669) (84,721) (63,237)
Net surplus after taxation 6 112,355 100,772  131,586 80,593

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE
For the year ended 30 June 2007

  Group Parent

  2007  2006 2007  2006

 Note $000  $000 $000  $000

    
Equity at beginning of the year  2,097,687 2,033,315 2,150,011 2,105,818

Net surplus after taxation  6 112,355 100,772 131,586 80,593
Increase in asset revaluation reserve 9 1,786 0 1,786 0
Total recognised revenues and expenses for the year  114,141        100,772 133,372 80,593
Distributions to owners:     
Final dividend paid 9 (50,400) (36,400) (50,400) (36,400)
Equity at end of the year  2,161,428 2,097,687 2,232,983 2,150,011

The notes set out on pages 59 to 79 form part of, and should be read in conjunction with, these Financial Statements.

STATEMENT OF MOVEMENTS IN EQUITY
For the year ended 30 June 2007
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STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
As at 30 June 2007

  Group Parent

  2007  2006 2007  2006

 Note $000  $000 $000  $000

EQUITY     
Share capital 8 377,561 377,561 377,561 377,561
Reserves 9 1,783,867 1,720,126 1,855,422 1,772,450
TOTAL EQUITY  2,161,428 2,097,687 2,232,983 2,150,011
     
ASSETS     
Current assets     
Cash  16,654 2,364 16,603 2,247
Short term deposits  69,500 2,000 69,500 2,000
Receivables and prepayments 10 166,776 180,225 400,677 277,009
Inventories 11 4,666 4,409 4,351 4,179
Taxation receivable  22,548 0 0 367
  280,144 188,998 491,131 285,802
Non-current assets     
Property, plant and equipment 12 2,562,136 2,478,979 2,242,512 2,260,818
Investment in subsidiaries 13 0 0 161,859 161,859
Investment and advances to associates 15 31,806 31,308 18,219 21,000
Other non-current assets 16 7,828 9,134 5,851 6,857
  2,601,770 2,519,421 2,428,441 2,450,534
Total assets  2,881,914 2,708,419 2,919,572 2,736,336
     
LIABILITIES     
Current liabilities     
Payables and accruals 17 141,951 138,230 123,867 126,252
Provisions 18 5,920 6,203 5,920 6,203
Provision for taxation   0 753 3,645 0
  147,871 145,186 133,432 132,455
Non-current liabilities     
Energy contracts  0 1,204 0 1,204
Deferred taxation 19 56,615 28,751 37,157 17,075
Loans 20 516,000 435,591 516,000 435,591
  572,615 465,546 553,157 453,870
Total liabilities  720,486 610,732 686,589 586,325
     
TOTAL NET ASSETS  2,161,428 2,097,687 2,232,983 2,150,011

For and on behalf of the Board of Directors who authorised the issue of the Financial Statments on 29 August 2007.

Carole Durbin John Baird
Chair Deputy Chair
29 AUGUST 2007 29 AUGUST 2007

The notes set out on pages 59 to 79 form part of, and should be read in conjunction with, these Financial Statements.
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STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
For the year ended 30 June 2007

  Group Parent

  2007  2006 2007  2006

 Note $000  $000 $000  $000

OPERATING ACTIVITIES     
Cash was provided from / (applied to):     
Receipts from customers  777,761 984,058 728,389 890,566
Interest received  6,863 1,506 6,859 1,432
Payments to suppliers and employees  (457,822) (691,943) (410,319) (633,230)
Interest paid  (31,359) (34,847) (31,325) (34,847)
Taxation paid  (67,555) (63,079) (67,555) (63,079)
Net cash flow from operating activities 21 227,888 195,695 226,049 160,842
     
INVESTING ACTIVITIES     
Cash was provided from / (applied to):     
Sale of property, plant and equipment  5,751 147 47 147
Repayment of advances by associates 15 3,301 4,000 3,301 4,000
Purchase of property, plant and equipment  (183,489) (148,415) (59,611) (59,278)
Disposal of other non-current assets  0 75 0 75
Purchase of other non-current assets  (1,130) (448) (1,130) (448)
Investment and advances to associates 15 (540) 0 (540) 0
Net cash flow from investing activities  (176,107) (144,641) (57,933) (55,504)
     
FINANCING ACTIVITIES     
Cash was provided from / (applied to):     
Loan advances 20 300,000 0 300,000 0
Loans repaid 20 (219,591) (33,703) (219,591) (33,703)
Loans to subsidiaries  0 0 (116,269) (54,343)
Dividends paid  (50,400) (36,400) (50,400) (36,400)
Net cash flow from financing activities  30,009 (70,103) (86,260) (124,446)
     
Net increase / (decrease) in cash held  81,790 (19,049) 81,856 (19,108)
Cash balance at beginning of the year  4,364 23,413 4,247 23,355
Cash balance at end of the year  86,154 4,364 86,103 4,247
     
Cash balance comprises:     
Cash  16,654 2,364 16,603 2,247
Short term deposits  69,500 2,000 69,500 2,000
Cash balance at end of the year  86,154 4,364 86,103 4,247
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended 30 June 2007

1. STATEMENT OF ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Reporting Entity
Mighty River Power Limited is a company registered under the Companies Act 1993 and is an issuer for the purposes of the Financial 
Reporting Act 1993. The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the Financial Reporting Act 1993 and the 
Companies Act 1993 and comprise the following: significant accounting policies, statements of financial performance, movements  
in equity, financial position and cash flows, as well as the notes to these statements.

The Parent Company’s financial statements are for Mighty River Power Limited (the “Company”) and the consolidated financial 
statements are for Mighty River Power Limited Group (the “Group”). The consolidated financial statements comprise the Company,  
its subsidiaries, associates and interests in joint ventures.

Constitution, Ownership and Activities
Mighty River Power Limited is wholly owned by Her Majesty the Queen in Right of New Zealand (the Crown). Consequently,  
the Company is bound by the requirements of the State-Owned Enterprises Act 1986.

The liabilities of the Company are not guaranteed in any way by the Crown. 

The Group’s principal activities are the production of electricity and the selling of energy and energy related services and products  
to retail and wholesale customers.

Measurement Base
The financial statements are prepared on the basis of historical cost with the exception of certain items for which specific accounting 
policies are identified, as noted below.

Specific Accounting Policies
The following specific accounting policies that materially affect the measurement of financial performance, financial position  
and cash flows have been applied:

Basis of Consolidation
Subsidiaries
Subsidiaries are those entities in which the Group holds a controlling interest either directly, indirectly or beneficially in the equity. 
Subsidiaries are consolidated under the purchase method on a line-by-line basis. All material inter-company transactions, balances 
and unrealised surpluses and deficits arising from transactions between Group companies are eliminated on consolidation.

Associates
Associates are those entities in which the Company holds an equity interest and over which the Company has the capacity to 
significantly affect but not unilaterally determine the operating and / or financial policy decisions. Associates are reflected in the 
consolidated financial statements on an equity accounting basis which recognises the Group’s share of retained surpluses or deficits 
in the consolidated statement of financial performance and its share of post acquisition increases or decreases in net assets in the 
consolidated statement of financial position.

Joint Ventures
Joint ventures are joint arrangements with other parties in which the Company has several liability in respect of costs and liabilities, 
and shares in any resulting output. The Company’s share of the assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses of joint ventures is 
incorporated into the Company and Group financial statements on a line-by-line basis.

Investments
Investments in subsidiaries are stated at cost.

Short-term investments comprise investments that mature or are otherwise realisable within not more than twelve months from  
the date of purchase and are stated at cost, less unamortised premium or discount.
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1. STATEMENT OF ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Acquisition or Disposal during the Year
Where an entity becomes or ceases to be a Group entity during the year, the results of that entity are included in the net surplus  
of the Group from the date of acquisition or up to the date of disposal.

Goodwill
Goodwill represents the excess of the purchase consideration over the fair value of the identifiable net assets acquired at the date of 
acquisition of an equity interest. Goodwill is recognised as an asset and separately disclosed. Goodwill is amortised on a straight-line 
basis over the period of expected benefits.

Discount on acquisition of businesses is accounted for by reducing proportionately the fair values of the non-monetary assets acquired.

Operating Revenue
Operating revenue recognised in the statement of financial performance includes the amounts received and receivable for energy and 
related energy services supplied to customers in the ordinary course of business. Operating revenue is stated exclusive of:

• distribution costs paid to lines companies as collected from customers, and

• goods and services tax collected from customers.

Operating revenue includes the value of units assessed as being recorded on meters as at balance date, but for which invoices have  
not yet been rendered.

Receivables 
Receivables are stated at their estimated realisable value, after providing for debts where collection is doubtful. Bad debts are 
expensed during the period in which they are identified.

Taxation
The taxation expense charged to the statement of financial performance includes both the current year’s provision and the income  
tax effect of timing differences calculated using the liability method.

Tax effect accounting is applied on a comprehensive basis to all timing differences. A debit balance in the deferred taxation  
account arising from timing differences or income tax benefits from income tax losses, is only recognised if there is virtual certainty  
of realisation.

Foreign Currencies
Foreign currency assets and liabilities are translated at exchange rates ruling at balance date. Exchange differences arising on 
translation are taken to the statement of financial performance. Hedged foreign currency assets and liabilities are translated at the rates 
of exchange determined by the underlying hedge contracts.

Foreign currency transactions are translated at the exchange rates ruling at the date of the transaction except where hedging 
contracts are taken out to cover short-term forward currency commitments, in which case the transaction is translated at the forward 
rate specified in those contracts.

The assets and liabilities of independent foreign operations are translated at the exchange rates ruling at balance date. Revenue and 
expense items are translated at the spot rate at the transaction date or a rate approximating that rate. Exchange differences are taken 
to the foreign currency translation reserve.

Surpluses and deficits relating to outstanding forward foreign exchange contracts which are not designated as hedges are recognised 
in the statement of financial performance in the period in which they are incurred.

Debt
Debt is stated at face value. Bank borrowing costs such as origination, commitment and transaction fees are expensed  
as incurred.
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1. STATEMENT OF ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Property, Plant and Equipment
Owned Assets 
The Group has adopted fair value accounting for its generation assets which include freehold land and buildings and generation 
plant. The underlying valuation performed by independent third party valuation experts and reviewed by the Board is conducted at a 
minimum of five yearly intervals with the underlying assumptions being reviewed for reasonableness on an annual basis. The basis 
of the valuation is net present value of future earnings of the assets on an existing use basis, excluding any costs associated with 
disposal, restoration and environmental rehabilitation.

Office land and buildings are revalued to market value triennially as determined by third party valuation experts.

Any surplus on revaluation of a class of property, plant and equipment is transferred directly to the asset revaluation reserve unless 
it offsets a previous decrease in value recognised in the statement of financial performance, in which case it is recognised in the 
statement of financial performance. A deficit on revaluation of a class of property, plant and equipment is recognised in the statement 
of financial performance in the period it arises where it exceeds any surplus previously transferred to the asset revaluation reserve. 
Additions to property, plant and equipment stated at valuation subsequent to the most recent valuation are recorded at cost. 

All other items of property, plant and equipment are recorded at cost.

The cost of property, plant and equipment purchased comprises the consideration given to acquire the assets plus other directly 
attributable costs incurred in bringing the assets to the location and condition necessary for their intended service.

The cost of property, plant and equipment constructed by the Group, including capital work in progress, includes the cost of all 
materials used in construction, direct labour specifically associated and an appropriate proportion of variable and fixed overheads. 
Financing costs attributable to a project are capitalised at the Group’s specific project finance interest rate, where these meet certain 
time and monetary materiality limits. Costs cease to be capitalised as soon as an asset is ready for productive use.

Where appropriate, the cost of property, plant and equipment includes site preparation costs, installation costs, unrecovered operating 
costs incurred during planned commissioning and the cost of obtaining resource consents.

Provision is made for any permanent impairment in the value of property, plant and equipment where the estimated recoverable 
amount is less than the carrying value.

Where property, plant and equipment is disposed of, the surplus or deficit recognised in the statement of financial performance  
is calculated as the difference between the sale price and the carrying value of the property, plant and equipment.

Leased Assets
The Group leases certain property, plant and equipment.

Leases under which the Group assumes substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership are classified as finance leases 
and are capitalised. The asset and corresponding liability are recorded at the inception of the lease at the fair value of the leased asset, 
at amounts equivalent to the discounted present value of minimum lease payments, including residual values.

Finance charges are apportioned over the terms of the respective leases.

The cost of improvements to leasehold property is capitalised and amortised over the estimated useful life of the improvements,  
or over the unexpired portion of the lease, whichever is shorter.

Capitalised leased assets are depreciated over the shorter of their estimated useful lives or the lease term.

Operating lease payments are representative of the pattern of benefits derived from the leased assets and accordingly are charged  
to the statement of financial performance in the periods in which they are incurred.
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1. STATEMENT OF ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Depreciation
Depreciation is provided on a straight-line basis on all property, plant and equipment other than freehold land and capital work  
in progress, so as to write down the assets to their estimated residual value over their expected useful lives. 

The annual depreciation rates are as follows:

 Office land & buildings  1 – 2 % 
 Generation assets:    
  - Hydro   2 – 15%    
  - Geothermal    5 – 8 %    
  - Co-generation   7 – 11%
  - Landfill  5 – 10%
 Meters  5 – 10%  
 Computer hardware and software  20 – 33%  
 Other plant and equipment  10 – 33%   
 Motor vehicles  20% 

Resource Consents
Costs incurred in obtaining resource consents are capitalised and recognised within generation assets where they are more likely  
than not to give rise to future economic benefit. These costs are amortised over the life of the consents on a straight-line basis.

Distinction between Capital and Revenue Expenditure
Capital expenditure is defined as all expenditure on the purchase or creation of a new asset, and any expenditure that results  
in a significant improvement to the original functionality of an existing asset.

Revenue expenditure is defined as expenditure that restores an asset to its original operating capability and all expenditure incurred in 
maintaining and operating the business.

Exploration and Development Expenditure
Exploration and development expenditure incurred by the Group is accounted for using the successful effort method.

Exploration
Exploration expenditure, which includes geological, geochemical and geophysical costs, is recognised in the statement of financial 
performance in the period incurred except where future benefits are expected to exceed such expenditure.

Exploratory drilling costs are initially deferred and are subject to regular review to confirm the ability to develop or otherwise extract 
value from expenditure. If an exploratory field is appraised as unsuccessful, such costs are charged to the statement of financial 
performance. 

The exploratory drilling costs of successful efforts are amortised on a units of production basis over the estimated life of the field, 
commencing from the first year of commercial production from that field.

Development
The development costs of successful efforts are capitalised and amortised on a units of production basis over the estimated life of the 
field, commencing from the first year of commercial production. Any impairment in the value of unamortised development costs is 
charged to the statement of financial performance.

Rehabilitation Costs
Estimations are made for the expected cost of environmental rehabilitation of commercial sites that require some level of 
reinstatement resulting from present operations. Any liability is recognised when exposure is identified and rehabilitation costs  
can be reasonably estimated.
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1. STATEMENT OF ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Insurance
The Group’s property, plant and equipment is predominantly concentrated at power station locations which have the potential  
to sustain major losses through damage to plant and resultant consequential costs.

To minimise the financial impact of such exposures, the major portion of the assessed risk is transferred to insurance companies 
by taking out insurance policies with appropriate counterparties. Any uninsured loss is expensed to the statement of financial 
performance in the year in which the loss is incurred.

Inventories
Inventories are stated at the lower of cost or net realisable value. Cost is determined on a weighted average basis and includes 
expenditure incurred in acquiring the inventories and bringing them to their existing condition and location.

Employee Entitlements
A liability for employee entitlements is accrued and recognised in the statement of financial position. The liability is stated  
at the estimated value of future cash outflows resulting from employee services provided up to balance date.

Financial Instruments
Treasury Contracts
The Group has various financial instruments with off-balance sheet risk for the purpose of reducing its exposure to fluctuations  
in interest rates and foreign exchange rates. 

For interest rate swap agreements, the differential to be paid or received is accrued and is recognised as a component of interest 
expense or interest revenue over the life of the swap agreement.

Premiums paid on interest rate and currency options and the net settlement on maturity of forward rate agreements are amortised 
over the life of the underlying asset or liability protected by the instrument.

Surpluses and deficits relating to financial instruments entered into with no corresponding underlying position are recognised  
in the statement of financial performance in the period in which they are incurred.

Energy Contracts
The Group has entered into a number of contracts to manage its exposure to price fluctuations on the electricity spot market. 
These contracts are in the form of power supply agreements, contracts for difference, and option based instruments. They are not 
undertaken for speculative purposes. These energy contracts establish the price at which future specified quantities of electricity  
are purchased, sold or otherwise exchanged.

Surpluses and deficits on energy contracts are recognised in the statement of financial performance in the period incurred.

Statement of Cash Flows
The following are the definitions of the terms used in the statement of cash flows:

• Cash includes cash on hand and bank current accounts, net of bank overdrafts.

• Investing activities are those activities relating to the acquisition, holding and disposal of property, plant and equipment  
and of investments. Investments can include securities not falling within the definition of cash.

• Financing activities are those activities that result in changes in the size and composition of the equity structure of the Group.  
This includes both equity and debt not falling within the definition of cash. Dividends paid in relation to equity structure are  
included in financing activities.

• Operating activities include all transactions and other events that are not investing or financing activities.
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1. STATEMENT OF ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Comparatives
Prior year comparatives have been restated to conform with current year presentation.

Changes in Accounting Policies
There have been no changes in accounting policy during the period.

2. OPERATING REVENUE
All operating revenue was derived from continuing activities.

3. NET OPERATING SURPLUS  
  Group Parent

  2007  2006 2007  2006

  $000  $000 $000  $000

    
Surplus before taxation  184,474 172,441 216,307 143,830
    
After charging / (crediting):    
Net deficit / (surplus) on disposal of property, plant and equipment  823 (2) 833 (2)
Bad debts written off  3,307 2,405 3,307 2,405
Change in provision for doubtful debts  844 193 844 193
     
Depreciation:     

- Office land & buildings  340 225 340 225
- Generation assets  75,741 74,093 62,385 61,571
- Meters  3,513 3,431 3,513 3,431
- Computer hardware and software  6,084 3,285 5,976 3,342
- Other plant and equipment   1,119 1,244 974 1,100
- Motor vehicles  329 185 318 173
Total depreciation  87,126 82,463 73,506 69,842
Amortisation   1,167 1,080 867 780
Total depreciation and amortisation  88,293 83,543 74,373 70,622
     
Fees paid to the auditors for:     

- Auditing the financial statements  273 260 192 170
- IFRS audit related services  118 124 118 124
Total auditor’s fees and services  391 384 310 294
    
Interest charged  39,983 37,147 39,949 37,055
Interest capitalised to construction projects  (4,735) 0 (4,735) 0
Total interest expense  35,248 37,147 35,214 37,055
     
Rental and operating lease costs  2,587 1,882 2,587 1,882
Directors’ fees  355 331 355 331
Donations  82 65 82 65
Net foreign currency exchange losses / (gains)  126 (1,038) 428 (1,117)
    
Impaired exploration expenditure  19,607 17,532 (1,460) 17,532

The Group is undertaking a gas exploration project. Exploration efforts that prove to be unsuccessful are expensed. The current year 
impairment expenditure relates to the failed Goss and Tawa wells. The Company adjustment relates to the reversal of an overaccrual 
in relation to the Trapper well that was impaired last year.
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4. NON-RECURRING ITEMS  
  Group Parent

  2007  2006 2007  2006

  $000  $000 $000  $000

Reversal of onerous contract provision  1,204 0 1,204 0
Reversal of previous revaluation decrement  91 0 91 0
  1,295 0 1,295 0
     
5. TAXATION EXPENSE  

  Group Parent

  2007  2006 2007  2006

  $000  $000 $000  $000

Surplus before taxation  184,474 172,441 216,307 143,830
Taxation at 33 cents  60,876 56,905 71,381 47,464
Taxation effect of permanent differences:     
Impact of tax rate change on deferred taxation  (3,692) 0 (2,423) 0
Prior year adjustments  37 (251) (29) (251)
Other permanent differences  14,898 15,015 15,792 16,024
Taxation expense  72,119 71,669 84,721 63,237
 
Analysis of Taxation Expense     
Current taxation  44,254 65,831 64,639 60,819
Deferred taxation  27,865 5,838 20,082 2,418
  72,119 71,669 84,721 63,237
    
6. NET SURPLUS AFTER TAXATION    
All net surplus after taxation was derived from continuing activities.

7. IMPUTATION CREDIT ACCOUNT
   Parent

     2007  2006

     $000  $000

Balance at beginning of the year    142,954 97,803
Imputation credits attached to dividends paid during the year    (24,824) (17,928)
Income tax payments during the year    67,555 63,079
Balance at end of the year    185,685 142,954
     
At balance date the imputation credits available to the shareholder were:  
Through direct shareholding in the Company    168,866 133,063
Through indirect interests in subsidiaries    16,819 9,891
    185,685 142,954

8. SHARE CAPITAL     
The share capital is represented by 377,561,000 (2006: 377,561,000) ordinary shares issued and fully paid. All shares have equal voting 
rights and share equally in dividends and surplus on winding up.
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9. RESERVES
  Group Parent

  2007  2006 2007  2006

  $000  $000 $000  $000

Asset Revaluation Reserve     
Balance at beginning of the year  1,300,517 1,300,517 1,419,117 1,419,117
Increase in asset revaluation reserve (note 12)  1,786 0 1,786 0
Transfer to retained earnings for assets taken out of service  (844) 0 (844) 0
Balance at end of the year  1,301,459 1,300,517 1,420,059 1,419,117
Retained Surplus     
Balance at beginning of the year  419,609 355,237 353,333 309,140
Net surplus after taxation for the year  112,355 100,772 131,586 80,593
Release of asset revaluation reserve for assets taken out of service  844 0 844 0
Distributions to owners  (50,400) (36,400) (50,400) (36,400)
Balance at end of the year  482,408 419,609 435,363 353,333
  1,783,867 1,720,126 1,855,422 1,772,450
   
The final dividend for the 2006 year was approved by the Board on 30 August 2006 and paid on 8 September 2006.
  

10. RECEIVABLES AND PREPAYMENTS  
  Group Parent

  2007  2006 2007  2006

  $000  $000 $000  $000

Subsidiaries  0 0 257,917 118,720
Trade receivables  156,252 169,552 132,518 148,996
Sundry receivables  6,450 6,389 6,450 6,389
Prepayments  4,074 4,284 3,792 2,904
  166,776 180,225 400,677 277,009
   

11. INVENTORIES
  Group Parent

  2007  2006 2007  2006

  $000  $000 $000  $000

Consumable stores  4,090 4,132 3,775 3,902
Finished goods  576 277 576 277
  4,666 4,409 4,351 4,179
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12. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT  
  Group Parent

  2007  2006 2007  2006

  $000  $000 $000  $000

Office Land & Buildings     
At valuation  7,539 5,527 7,539 5,527
Accumulated depreciation  0 (711) 0 (711)
  7,539 4,816 7,539 4,816
Generation Assets     
At valuation  2,382,824 2,332,891 2,215,779 2,209,807
Accumulated depreciation  (149,892) (74,275) (124,107) (61,753)
  2,232,932 2,258,616 2,091,672 2,148,054
Meters     
At cost   63,012 59,626 63,012 59,626
Accumulated depreciation  (27,726) (24,219) (27,726) (24,219)
  35,286 35,407 35,286 35,407
Computer Hardware and Software     
At cost   58,040 41,662 57,373 41,228
Accumulated depreciation  (39,130) (33,079) (38,811) (32,868)
  18,910 8,583 18,562 8,360
Other Plant and Equipment     
At cost   21,427 20,586 20,157 19,317
Accumulated depreciation  (14,078) (12,981) (13,347) (12,395)
  7,349 7,605 6,810 6,922
Motor Vehicles     
At cost   1,880 1,550 1,762 1,404
Accumulated depreciation  (838) (605) (771) (522)
  1,042 945 991 882
Capital Work in Progress     
At cost  259,078 163,007 81,652 56,377
  2,562,136 2,478,979 2,242,512 2,260,818
     

Generation assets shown at valuation were revalued using a net present value methodology by PricewaterhouseCoopers  
as at 30 June 2005.  As a consequence of the revaluation, accumulated depreciation on these assets was reset to nil as at 30 June 2005.  

Revalued office land and buildings are stated at market value as determined by Darroch Valuations Waikato Limited, an independent 
valuer, on 4 May 2007. As a consequence of the revaluation accumulated depreciation has been reset to nil.

During the year a review of exploration expenditure contained within capital work in progress was performed. Refer note 3 on impaired 
exploration expenditure.

The significant increase in capital work in progress is due to the commencement of construction on the Kawerau Geothermal power station.

   



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 30 June 2007

68. MIGHTY RIVER POWER LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2007

13. INVESTMENT IN SUBSIDIARIES     
   

   Parent

     2007  2006

     $000  $000

 
Shares in subsidiaries at cost    161,859 161,859
    161,859 161,859

Subsidiaries comprise:    
Company % Holding Principal Activities Balance Date

 2007 2006  

Southdown Cogeneration Limited  100 100  Electricity generation  30 June
Rotokawa Generation Limited 100 100 Electricity generation  30 June
Mighty River Power Investments Limited 100 100 Investment holding  30 June
Mighty River Power (Rotokawa) Limited 100 100 Investment holding  30 June
ECNZ International Limited 100 100 Investment holding  30 June
Enalysis Limited 100 100 Non trading   30 June
Energy Auckland Limited 100 100 Non trading   30 June
First Electric Limited 100 100 Non trading   30 June
Mercury Energy Limited 100 100 Non trading   30 June
PT ECNZ Services Indonesia 100 100 Non trading       31 December
Rotokawa Geothermal Limited 100 100 Non trading   30 June
Southdown Cogen Power Limited 100 100 Non trading   30 June 
Kawerau Geothermal Limited 100 100 Geothermal development  30 June 
Mangakino Geothermal Limited 100 100 Geothermal development  30 June 
Mighty River Power Gas Investments Limited 100 100 Investment holding  30 June 
Mighty River Power (Tawa) Limited 100 100 Gas development  30 June 
Mighty River Power (Goss) Limited 100 100 Gas development  30 June 
Mighty River Power (Kaheru) Limited 100 100 Gas development  30 June 
Mighty River Power (Trapper) Limited 100 100 Gas development  30 June 
Mighty River Power (Mangaa 491) Limited 100 100 Gas development  30 June 
Mighty River Power (Koru 488) Limited 100 100 Gas development  30 June 
Mighty River Power (Toro 489) Limited 100 100 Gas development  30 June 
Mighty River Power (Opunake 490) Limited 100 100 Gas development  30 June 
Mighty River Power (Waitara 496) Limited 100 0 Gas development  30 June
Mighty River Power (Waipa) Limited 100 0 Investment holding  30 June
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14. JOINT VENTURES
The Company has interests in the following unincorporated joint ventures:

Joint Venture % Holding Principal Activities Balance Date

 2007 2006  

Rotokawa 50.0 50.0 Electricity generation  30 June
Rosedale / Greenmount 77.5 77.5 Electricity generation  30 June
Silverstream 93.0 93.0 Electricity generation  30 June
Waipa 50.0 0 Electricity generation  30 June

The company entered into the Waipa Joint Venture agreement on 3 July 2006 to construct, operate and manage a 9 Megawatt hydro 
electricity generation plant. The project is currently in the construction phase.

The Group’s share of revenue, expenses, assets and liabilities of joint ventures which have been proportionately consolidated within  
the financial statements are as follows:
   Group

     2007  2006

     $000  $000

Rotokawa     
Share of revenue    3,460 3,345
Share of expenses    3,371 3,257
     
Share of non-current assets    14,591 15,675
Share of current liabilities    385 203
     
Rosedale / Greenmount      
Share of revenue    2,136 2,137
Share of expenses    1,340 1,975
     
Ownership of and responsibility for the assets of Rosedale / Greenmount are retained by the party contributing those assets.  
The financial statements of Rosedale / Greenmount are unaudited.
     
Silverstream     
Share of revenue    736 1,210
Share of expenses    1,082 933
     
Share of current assets    165 80
Share of non-current assets    1,473 1,723
Share of assets    1,638 1,803
     
Share of current liabilities    86 301
     
Waipa    
Share of revenue    4 0
Share of expenses    11 0
     
Share of current assets    94 0
Share of non-current assets    5,182 0
Share of assets    5,276 0
     
Share of current liabilities    4 0
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15. INVESTMENT AND ADVANCES TO ASSOCIATES 
  Group Parent

  2007  2006 2007  2006

  $000  $000 $000  $000

Shares at cost  5,000 5,000 0 0
Share of retained surplus / (deficit)  8,557 5,308 (30) 0
Cost of investment acquired during the year  300 0 300 0
Advances  17,949 21,000 17,949 21,000
Balance at end of the year  31,806 31,308 18,219 21,000

On 18 June 2003 the Group acquired a 25% ownership in TPC Holdings Limited, whose principal activity is investing in its 100% owned 
subsidiary Tuaropaki Power Company Limited, an electricity generator. 

On 31 October 2006 the Company acquired a 49% ownership in EZY Networks Limited, whose principal activity is the sale of electricity 
to the apartment market. The Company also agreed to make advances to EZY Networks Limited of up to $450,000. Advances to 30 June 
2007 total $250,000.

On 27 November 2006 the Company acquired a 28.75% ownership in Hot Water Innovations Limited, whose principal activity  
is to develop a hot water storage solution.

16. OTHER NON-CURRENT ASSETS
  Group Parent

  2007  2006 2007  2006

  $000  $000 $000  $000

Energy contracts  3,073 3,818 3,073 3,818
Generation development options  2,202 2,625 225 348
Bond issue costs  2,478 2,616 2,478 2,616
Other  75 75 75 75
  7,828 9,134 5,851 6,857

Non-current assets are stated at cost less amortisation and any impairment. 

17. PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS
  Group Parent

  2007  2006 2007  2006

  $000  $000 $000  $000

Trade payables  128,397 122,590 110,814 111,112
Employee entitlements  3,765 3,490 3,765 3,490
Sundry creditors  9,789 12,150 9,288 11,650
  141,951 138,230 123,867 126,252
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18. PROVISIONS
  Group Parent

  2007  2006 2007  2006

  $000  $000 $000  $000

Provision for Prompt Payment Discounts     
Balance at beginning of the year  6,203 5,051 6,203 5,051
Movements during the year  (283) 1,152 (283) 1,152
Balance at end of the year  5,920 6,203 5,920 6,203
     
Provision for prompt payment discounts represents the prompt payment discount allowed for electricity retail customers. The discount 
is utilised when outstanding accounts are paid by the due date as specified on the monthly electricity invoice. The level of discount 
provided for is assessed on an ongoing basis.

19. DEFERRED TAXATION    
  Group Parent

  2007  2006 2007  2006

  $000  $000 $000  $000

Balance at beginning of the year  28,751 22,913 17,075 14,657
Movements during the year:     
Timing differences  34,357 9,622 24,421 6,207
Impact of tax rate change  (3,692) 0 (2,423) 0
Prior year adjustments  (2,801) (3,784) (1,916) (3,789)
Balance at end of the year  56,615 28,751 37,157 17,075
     
The Government announced a change in the headline company tax rate from 33% to 30%. This change will be effective for the Group 
from 1 July 2008. An adjustment has been made to deferred taxation in relation to timing differences that reverse after that date.

20. LOANS
  Group Parent

  2007  2006 2007  2006

  $000  $000 $000  $000

Bank loans (unsecured)  0 6,500 0 6,500
Commercial paper (unsecured)  0 99,270 0 99,270
Fixed Rate Bonds (unsecured)  200,000 313,821 200,000 313,821
Floating Rate Bonds (unsecured)  300,000 0 300,000 0
ECNZ Residual loans (unsecured)  16,000 16,000 16,000 16,000
  516,000 435,591 516,000 435,591

Repayable as follows: Interest rate:    
Within one year –  0 0 0 0
One to two years 8.0%  16,000 6,500 16,000 6,500
Two to five years –  0 115,270 0 115,270
Later than five years 7.0% – 8.7%   500,000 313,821 500,000 313,821
  516,000 435,591 516,000 435,591
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20. LOANS (CONTINUED)
The company has 364 day evergreen bank funding facilities to provide liquidity support. The contributing banks have indicated their 
support to provide an increase in facilities as required.

The unsecured and unsubordinated Fixed Rate Bonds represent subscriptions of $200 million dated 9 May 2003. The Bonds carry  
a fixed interest rate of 7.01% for the first five years and have a maturity date of 15 May 2013, unless the Company exercises its early 
repayment option to redeem the Bonds on 15 May 2008.

The unsecured and unsubordinated Credit Wrapped Floating Rate Bonds represent subscriptions of $300 million dated 7 September 
2006 with a maturity of 7 September 2021, unless the Company exercises its early repayment option to redeem the Bonds on the  
7th, 8th, 9th, 10th, 11th, 12th, 13th and 14th anniversaries of the Issue Date.

The Company has entered into a Master Trust Deed with the New Zealand Guardian Trust Company Limited, acting as trustee for the 
holders of Fixed & Floating Rate Bonds, in which the Company has agreed subject to certain exceptions, not to create or permit to exist 
a security interest over or effecting its assets to secure indebtedness, and to maintain a minimum level of shareholders’ equity. The 
Company has also entered into a Supplementary Trust Deed for the issue of $200 million of 10 year Fixed Rate Bonds and a further 
Supplementary Trust Deed for the $300 million of Floating Rate Bonds.

The Company has entered into a negative pledge deed in favour of its bank financiers in which the Company has agreed subject to 
certain exceptions, not to create or permit to exist a security interest over or effecting its assets to secure its indebtedness, and to 
maintain certain financial ratios in relation to the Company. 

21. RECONCILIATION OF NET SURPLUS AFTER TAXATION WITH NET CASH FLOW FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES 
   
  Group Parent

  2007  2006 2007  2006

  $000  $000 $000  $000

Net Surplus after Taxation  112,355 100,772 131,586 80,593
Add / (less) non-cash items:     
Depreciation  87,126 82,463 73,506 69,842
Amortisation of other non-current assets  1,167 1,080 867 780
Impairment of exploration expenditure  19,607 17,532 (1,460) 17,532
Share of associate companies net (surplus) / deficit  (3,249) (4,156) 30 0
Other non-cash items  6,005 (1,969) 6,014 (2,169)
  110,656 94,950 78,957 85,985
Add / (less) movements in working capital:     
Decrease / (increase) in receivables and prepayments  13,219 (19,909) 15,299 (6,259)
Increase in inventories  (257) (1,355) (172) (1,174)
(Decrease) / increase in payables and accruals  
 (excluding capital expenditure accruals)  (12,648) 12,644 (14,318) 4,555
(Decrease) / increase in provision for taxation  (23,301) 2,755 4,012 (8,581)
Increase in deferred taxation  27,864 5,838 20,082 2,418
  4,877 (27) 24,903 (9,041)
Add / (less) items classified as investing activities:   
Transfers between group companies  0 0 (9,397) 3,305
  0 0 (9,397) 3,305
Net Cash Flow from Operating Activities  227,888       195,695 226,049 160,842
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22. COMMITMENTS
  Group Parent

  2007  2006 2007  2006

  $000  $000 $000  $000

CAPITAL COMMITMENTS     
Commitments for future capital expenditure are:   
Within one year  107,128 24,825 3,734 3,882
One to two years  6,689 0 0 0
  113,817 24,825 3,734 3,882
OPERATING COMMITMENTS     
Commitments under non-cancellable operating leases and other contracts are:     
Within one year  2,497 2,377 2,497 2,377
One to two years  2,454 2,320 2,454 2,320
Two to five years  6,007 6,255 6,007 6,255
Later than five years  6,424 6,690 6,424 6,690
  17,382 17,642 17,382 17,642

23. CONTINGENCIES
Mighty River Power Limited and certain subsidiaries have cross-guaranteed the due and punctual payment of each other’s guaranteed 
indebtedness in relation to bank borrowings.

Mighty River Power Limited holds land and interests that may be affected by certain claims that have been brought or are pending 
against the Crown under the Treaty of Waitangi Act 1975. In the event that the Crown agrees to the return of some or all of the affected 
land resumption would be effected by the Crown under the Public Works Act 1981 and compensation would be payable to Mighty River 
Power Limited. 
     
24. SEGMENT INFORMATION
Mighty River Power Limited operates predominantly in one segment, being the generation and sale of energy in New Zealand.
     
25. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
Revenue Risk – Energy Contracts     
The Group, in the ordinary course of business, enters into energy contracts that establish a fixed price at which future specified 
quantities of electricity are purchased, sold or otherwise exchanged.  The Group’s exposure to spot electricity prices is limited by  
a Board approved Electricity Market and Credit Risk Policy. 

On maturity of the energy contracts, any difference between the hedge price and the spot market price is settled between the parties.  
Settlement occurs irrespective of the amount of electricity actually supplied or consumed.

Credit Risk     
To the extent that the Group has a receivable from another party, there is a credit risk in the event of non-performance by that  
counterparty. Financial instruments which potentially subject the Group to credit risk principally consist of bank balances, receivables, 
investments and interest rate swaps.

The Group manages its exposure to credit risk.  The Group performs credit evaluations on all electricity customers and normally 
requires a bond from customers who have yet to establish a suitable credit history.

The Group monitors the credit quality of the major financial institutions that are counterparties to its off balance sheet financial 
instruments and does not anticipate non-performance by the counterparties.

With respect to energy contracts, the Group has potential credit risk exposure to the counterparty dependent on the spot market price 
at settlement, and does not anticipate any non-performance of any obligations which may exist on maturity of these contracts.  
Credit risk in relation to these counterparties is managed in accordance with the Electricity Market and Credit Risk Policy.
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25. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)
Maximum exposures to credit risk at balance date are:
  Group Parent

  2007  2006 2007  2006

  $000  $000 $000  $000

Bank balances  16,654 2,364 16,603 2,247
Short term deposits  69,500 2,000 69,500 2,000
Receivables  158,650 171,106 392,833 269,271
Investments  31,806 31,308 18,219 21,000
Other non current assets  75 75 75 75
Interest rate swaps & other interest receivable  5,230 5,022 5,230 5,022

The above maximum exposures are net of any recognised provision for losses on these financial instruments.  
Collateral in the form of customer bonds totalling $455,000 (2006: $455,000) is held in respect of the above amounts.

Included in receivables are the following balances:
  Group Parent

  2007  2006 2007  2006

  $000  $000 $000  $000

     
Energy Clearing House Limited  32,038 46,486 24,226 39,793
     
The Group does not have any other significant concentrations of credit risk.

Foreign Exchange Risk     
The Group has exposure to foreign exchange risk as a result of transactions and forecast transactions denominated in foreign 
currencies. The Group uses foreign currency forward exchange contracts and foreign currency options to manage these exposures.   
It is the Company’s policy to enter into forward exchange contracts to support its capital expenditure programme once a contractual 
commitment has been made.  

At balance date the principal or contract amounts of foreign currency forward exchange contracts and foreign currency options are:
  
  Group Parent

  2007  2006 2007  2006

  $000  $000 $000  $000

     
Foreign currency forward exchange contracts  480,304 565,288 480,304 565,288
     
At balance date the Group also has US funds of US$1,713,161 (2006: $623,535), Japanese funds of ¥820,706,087 (2006: ¥nil),  
Euro funds of ¤802,556 (2006: ¤nil) and Australian funds of A$149,432 (2006: $nil) held in respective accounts that are not hedged.   
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25. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)
Interest Rate Risk
The Group has exposure to interest rate risk to the extent that it borrows for a fixed term at floating interest rates. The Group manages 
its cost of borrowing by placing limits on the proportion of floating to fixed rate borrowings. The Group uses interest rate swaps and 
interest rate options to manage interest rate risk.

At balance date the principal or contract amounts of interest rate swaps and interest rate options outstanding are:
  

  Group Parent

  2007  2006 2007  2006

  $000  $000 $000  $000

Interest rate swaps  625,000 675,000 625,000 675,000
Interest rate options  30,000 90,000 30,000 90,000
     
Repricing Analysis     
The following tables identify the periods in which repriced financial instruments are subject to interest rate risk. The overall effective 
interest rate incorporates the effect of the relevant derivative contracts.

 Effective Interest Rate Total    Within 1 Year 1 to 2 Years 2 to 5 Years Later than 5 Years

Group and Parent 2007  $000 $000 $000 $000 $000

Assets      

Cash 7.9%   16,654 16,654 0 0 0
Short term deposits 8.1%   69,500 69,500 0 0 0
Advances to associate 0.0%   17,949 0 0 250 17,699
Total Assets    104,103 86,154 0 250 17,699

Less Liabilities      
Fixed Rate Bonds (unsecured)  7.0%   200,000 0 0 0 200,000
Floating Rate Bonds (unsecured)  8.1%   300,000 300,000 0 0 0
ECNZ Residual loans (unsecured) 8.0%   16,000 0 16,000 0 0
Total Liabilities    516,000 300,000 16,000 0 200,000

Off Balance Sheet      
Interest rate swaps    625,000 235,000 50,000 200,000 140,000
Interest rate options    30,000 0 15,000 15,000 0
Total Off Balance Sheet    655,000  235,000 65,000 215,000 140,000
 
Repricing Profile    243,103  21,154 49,000 215,250 (42,301)
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25. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

 Effective Interest Rate Total    Within 1 Year 1 to 2 Years 2 to 5 Years Later than 5 Years

Group and Parent 2006  $000 $000 $000 $000 $000

Assets      
Cash 7.2%   2,364 2,364 0 0 0
Short term deposits 7.2%   2,000 2,000 0 0 0
Advances to associate 0.0%   21,000 0 0 0 21,000
Total Assets    25,364 4,364 0 0 21,000

Less Liabilities      
Bank loans (unsecured) 7.5%   6,500 0 6,500 0 0
Commercial paper (unsecured) 7.5%   99,270 0 0 99,270 0
Fixed Rate Bonds (unsecured)  6.9%   313,821 0 0 0 313,821
ECNZ Residual loans (unsecured) 8.0%   16,000 0 0 16,000 0
Total Liabilities    435,591 0 6,500 115,270 313,821

Off Balance Sheet       
Interest rate swaps    675,000 145,000 220,000 190,000 120,000
Interest rate options    90,000 60,000 0 30,000 0
Total Off Balance Sheet    765,000 205,000 220,000 220,000             120,000
 
Repricing Profile    354,773 209,364 213,500 104,730 (172,821)

Fair Values
The estimated fair values of financial instruments that differ from carrying values are as follows:
   
  Group and Parent Group and Parent

  2007 2006

  Carrying Value  Fair Value Carrying Value  Fair Value

  $000  $000 $000  $000

     
Interest rate swaps  (229) 9,139 (158) (3,321)
Interest rate options  340 891 583 498
Foreign currency forward exchange contracts  0 (73,912) 0 35,971

The following methods and assumptions were used to estimate the fair value of each class of financial instrument:

Bank balances, receivables, payables, loans, investments
The carrying amount is the fair value for each of these classes of financial instrument and accordingly they are excluded  
from the table above.

Foreign currency options and foreign currency forward exchange contracts
The fair value of these classes of financial instruments is based on the quoted market price of comparable instruments.

Interest rate swaps and interest rate options
The fair value of these classes of financial instruments is the current market valuation provided by the Group’s bankers.

Energy contracts
The fair value of energy price hedge contracts varies in accordance with the market price for electricity.
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25. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)
As at balance date, the face value of energy contracts amounted to $1,406.0 million (2006: $779.7 million) with terms of up to 16 years.

The carrying value of energy contracts within non-current liabilities have been reversed in the financial statements in 2007 leaving a 
balance of $nil, refer note 4, (2006: $1.2 million). This was the value of the contracts acquired by the Group on 1 April 1999, as valued 
by PricewaterhouseCoopers, less the amortisation credited to the statement of financial performance since the date of acquisition.

26. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
During the year the Company entered into the following transactions with subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures:
  

     2007  2006

     $000  $000

Management fees  charged to subsidiaries / joint ventures    2,152 2,305
Advances to subsidiaries    257,917 118,720
Advances to associates    17,949 21,000
     
Advances to subsidiaries are interest free and repayable on demand with the exception of Mighty River Power Investments Limited’s 
advances to Mighty River Power (Rotokawa) Limited.

Doug Heffernan (Chief Executive), a director of Mighty River Power Investments Limited and its subsidiaries, is also a director of  
TPC Holdings Limited and Tuaropaki Power Company Limited. Tim Densem (General Manager Hydro/Thermal Generation) is a 
director of Damwatch Services Limited. James Moulder (General Manager Sales) is a director of EZY Networks Limited. Neil Williams 
(Group Strategist) is a director of Hot Water Innovations Limited. These individuals are employees of Mighty River Power and provide 
directorship services as part of their employment without receiving any additional remuneration. 

The Company has the following transactions and balances with these entities:

Tuaropaki Power Company Limited:
The Group has a number of related party contracts with the Tuaropaki Power Company. These contracts include operational  
and maintenance services, engineering services and energy contracts. 

Net receipts from energy contracts and services performed totalled $11,795,432 (2006: net payment $19,978,031) and related amounts 
receivable at balance date of $1,320,702 (2006: $1,304,315)
 
Damwatch Services Limited:
Monitoring services expense for the period of $1,624,755 (2006: $1,779,056) and related amounts payable at balance date  
of $29,406 (2006: $26,139).

EZY Networks Limited:
Receipts from electricity sales for the period totalled $1,022,989 and related amounts receivable at balance date of $ nil.

Directors and employees of the Group deal with Mighty River Power Limited as electricity consumers on normal terms and conditions 
within the ordinary course of trading activities.

No related party debts have been written off or forgiven during the year.  

The ultimate shareholder of Mighty River Power Limited is the Crown.  All transactions with the Crown and other State-Owned 
Enterprises are at arm’s length, and it is considered that these do not fall within the intended scope of related party disclosures.

27. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS
On 29 August 2007 the Directors approved a final dividend of $56.2 million to be paid on 7 September 2007.
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28. INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
In December 2002 the New Zealand Accounting Standards Review Board (ASRB) announced that New Zealand entities required to 
comply with NZ GAAP under the Financial Reporting Act would be required to apply International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) 
for financial periods commencing on or after 1 January 2007 with earlier adoption permitted from 1 January 2005.  The new standards 
that have been approved by the ASRB for application in New Zealand are referred to as New Zealand equivalents to International 
Financial Reporting Standards (NZ IFRS) as certain adaptations have been made to reflect New Zealand circumstances.

The Group adopted NZ IFRS from 1 July 2007. A project team was involved assessing the impacts of conversion to NZ IFRS reporting 
on existing accounting and reporting policies, procedures, systems and processes, then designing and implementing the changes 
required to enable the delivery of financial reporting on an NZ IFRS compliant basis for the 30th June 2008 financial year. 

The comparative period in the 30 June 2008 financial statements will need to be reported on a NZ IFRS compliant basis. Consequently 
during the period from 1 July 2006 to 30 June 2007 two sets of records have been maintained: one under current NZ GAAP; the other 
under NZ IFRS. 

The differences between current NZ GAAP and NZ IFRS identified to date as having an effect on the Group’s financial position are 
summarised below and are based on NZ IFRS that exist at the date of issue of these financial statements. Future developments of 
those standards, that occur prior to the first set of financial statements under NZ IFRS, may result in material amendments to the 
adjustments detailed below.

Only a complete set of financial statements including notes, the first to be presented as at 30 June 2008, together with  
comparative balances, will provide a true and fair presentation of the Group’s results in accordance with NZ IFRS. No attempt  
has been made to identify all disclosure, presentation, or classification differences that would affect the manner in which  
transactions or events are presented. 

Provisional reconcilliation of the impact of adopting NZ IFRS on the current NZ GAAP statments of financial position at 1 July 2006

Group Share Capital Retained Earnings Other Reserves Total Equity Total Liabilities Total Assets

 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000

Total Reported under NZ GAAP  377,561 419,609 1,300,517 2,097,687 610,732            2,708,419
 Fair value of derivative contracts  0 0 60,241 60,241 9,192 69,433
 Deferred taxation  0 (132,519) (375,546) (508,065) 508,065 0
 Deemed cost adjustments  0 244,692 (244,692) 0 0 0
 Revaluation of property, plant  & equipment  0 (25,205) 25,205 0 0 0
 Other adjustments  0 (45) 0 (45) (9,421) (9,466)
Restated to NZ IFRS   377,561 506,532 765,725 1,649,818 1,118,568            2,768,386
      

Provisional reconciliation of the impact of adopting NZ IFRS on the current NZ GAAP statement of financial position as at 30 June 2007
      
Group Share Capital Retained Earnings Other Reserves Total Equity Total Liabilities Total Assets

 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000

Total Reported under NZ GAAP  377,561 482,408 1,301,459 2,161,428 720,486            2,881,914
  Fair value of derivative contracts  0 (57,718) 4,910 (52,808) 82,013 29,205
  Deferred taxation  0 (54,527) (357,008) (411,535) 416,466 4,931
  Deemed cost adjustments  0 244,692 (244,692) 0 0 0
  Revaluation of property, plant  & equipment  0 (25,205) 25,205 0 0 0
  Other adjustments  0 579 0 579 (8,770)                 (8,191)
Restated to NZ IFRS   377,561 590,229 729,874 1,697,664 1,210,195            2,907,859
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28. INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (CONTINUED)
Fair Value of Derivative Contracts
On transition all derivative contracts (including electricity hedges, interest rate and foreign exchange contracts) will be recorded in 
the statement of financial position at fair value under NZ IFRS and be adjusted against opening equity. Any subsequent movement in 
the fair value of these instruments from year to year will have the potential to affect the statement of financial performance and the 
statement of financial position, the extent to which will depend on whether hedge accounting is adopted. NZ IFRS is very prescriptive 
on when a derivative contract can be considered an effective hedge of an underlying position or future cash flow. The Group has 
therefore adopted hedge accounting practices where practical.

Deferred Taxation
The IFRS basis of accounting for deferred taxation is conceptually different to current NZ GAAP.  Under current NZ GAAP deferred 
taxation is calculated using an income statement approach whereas under NZ IFRS deferred taxation will be calculated based on a 
balance sheet approach. This method recognises deferred taxation balances where there is a difference between the carrying value 
of an asset or liability and its taxation base. The most significant impact for the Group will be the recognition of a deferred taxation 
liability in relation to the revaluation of generation assets and the recognition of the fair value of derivative contracts.  

Deemed Cost Adjustments
NZ IFRS 1 has some specific exemptions available to entities on initial transition to NZ IFRS. A first time adopter may have established 
a deemed cost under previous GAAP for some or all of its assets and liabilities by measuring them at their fair value because of a 
specific event.  It may use such event-driven fair value measurements as deemed cost for NZ IFRS at the date of that measurement. 
The Group will use this exemption in relation to the fair value exercise undertaken on the acquisition of assets and liabilities on the 
break-up of ECNZ. The impact of this will be a transfer of $244.7 million between the asset revaluation reserve and retained earnings.

Revaluation of Property Plant & Equipment
Under NZ IFRS downward revaluations below cost of individual assets are not permitted to be set off in the reserve against upward 
revaluations of other assets within the same asset class and are taken to the statement of financial performance. As permitted under 
transition to NZ IFRS an amount of $25.2 million, resulting from a devaluation of certain generation assets, will be reclassified from 
the asset revaluation reserve to retained earnings.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 30 June 2007
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FIVE YEAR FINANCIAL REVIEW

 2007 2006 2005 2004 2003

 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE
Operating revenue  777,718 1,011,937 684,376 599,248 646,246
     
Operating surplus before interest & non-recurring items 225,921 220,463 241,762 199,551 119,474
Net interest  (26,384) (34,646) (32,687) (29,401) (27,083)
Share of associate companies net surplus  3,249 4,156 1,021 131 0
Impaired exploration expenditure  (19,607) (17,532) (20,935) 0 0
Non-recurring items  1,295 0 (1,202) (14,705) 34,217
Surplus before taxation  184,474 172,441 187,959 155,576 126,608
Taxation expense  (72,119) (71,669) (66,732) (55,748) (13,077)
Net surplus after taxation  112,355 100,772 121,227 99,828 113,531
     
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS     
Operating cash flow  227,888 195,695 187,604 88,988 81,727
Investing cash flow  (176,107) (144,641) (103,627) (47,957) (28,532)
Financing cash flow  30,009 (70,103) (64,021) (42,456) (51,588)
Net increase / (decrease) in cash  81,790 (19,049) 19,956 (1,425) 1,607
Opening cash  4,364 23,413 3,457 4,882 3,275
Closing cash  86,154 4,364 23,413 3,457 4,882
     
PERFORMANCE INDICATORS     
Return on average shareholders’ equity  5.3% 4.9% 8.3% 11.4% 14.0%
Total equity / total assets  75.0% 77.5% 76.2% 58.6% 57.3%
Net debt / net debt plus equity  16.6% 17.1% 18.0% 32.4% 35.1%
FFO / interest expense  8.1x 7.0x 7.0x 6.8x 4.1x
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 2007 2006  2005 2004  2003

 $000 $000  $000 $000  $000

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION     
Equity     
Share capital  377,561 377,561 377,561 377,561 377,561
Reserves  1,783,867 1,720,126 1,655,754 508,963 484,135
Total Equity  2,161,428 2,097,687 2,033,315 886,524 861,696
     
Assets     
Current assets     
Cash and short term deposits  86,154 4,364 23,413 3,457 4,882
Other  193,990 184,634 165,372 122,684 102,556
  280,144 188,998 188,785 126,141 107,438
     
Non-current assets     
Property, plant & equipment  2,562,136 2,478,979 2,437,139 1,369,319 1,375,053
Other  39,634 40,442 42,157 17,846 21,354
  2,601,770 2,519,421 2,479,296 1,387,165 1,396,407
Total Assets  2,881,914 2,708,419 2,668,081 1,513,306 1,503,845

Liabilities     
Current liabilities     
Loans  0 0 0 54,000 36,000
Other   147,871 145,186  141,355 173,149 92,583
   147,871 145,186  141,355 227,149 128,583
Non-current liabilities     
Loans  516,000 435,591 469,294 374,315 434,771
Other  56,615 29,9055 24,117 25,318 78,795
  572,615 465,546 493,411 399,633 513,566
Total Liabilities  720,486 610,732 634,766 626,782 642,149

Total Net Assets  2,161,428 2,097,687 2,033,315 886,524 861,696

FIVE YEAR FINANCIAL REVIEW (CONTINUED)
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Shareholders
In accordance with the State Owned Enterprises Act 1986, the Company has two shareholders:

The Minister for State Owned Enterprises (Hon. Trevor Mallard) and Minister of Finance (Hon. Dr Michael Cullen).

In accordance with Section 15 of the Act, an Annual Report is to be submitted to the shareholding Ministers, such report to contain 
sufficient information to enable an informed assessment to be made of the operations of the Group. The Group will provide any other 
information requested by the shareholding Ministers pursuant to Section 18 of the Act.
 
Principal Activities
1. Core Business

• Securing fuel (to meet long term energy needs);

• Managing fuel reservoirs (to maximise fuel value over time);

• Conversion of fuel into higher value energy forms, particularly electricity;

• Trading fuel, electricity, and related financial products (to maximise value and reduce risk);

• Retailing of energy to customers, including marketing of value added products.

2. Complementary Business

• Providing advanced metering and energy management services to consumers and energy retailers. 

Financial Performance
A full set of financial statements of Mighty River Power Limited and the Group for the 12 month period to 30 June 2007 are included  
on pages 56 to 81 of this report. These statements include details of the Group’s accounting policies on pages 59 to 64.

Remuneration of Directors
The following table sets out the total remuneration and other benefits received by each Board member as a Director of Mighty River 
Power Limited for the reporting period.

Carole Durbin (Chair) 73,369.00  
John Baird (Deputy Chair)  36,684.48  
Caroline Ball   30,570.40  
Ian Fraser  15,285.20  
Trevor Janes  36,684.48  
Sandy Maier 40,353.00  
Neil Ranford  24,456.32  
Sir Paul Reeves 24,456.32  
Tania Simpson 36,684.48  
Patrick Strange  36,684.48 
Total Fees 355,228.16 

Disclosures of interests
The general disclosures of interest made by the Directors of Mighty River Power Limited pursuant to Section 140 (2) of the Companies 
Act 1993 are shown on pages 82 and 83. There were no declarations of interests made pursuant to Section 140 (1) of the Companies 
Act 1993 that were entered in the interests register of Mighty River Power Limited or its subsidiaries for the reporting period. No 
Director of Mighty River Power Limited is a shareholder of Mighty River Power Limited or any of its subsidiaries.

STATUTORY INFORMATION
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STATUTORY INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

DECLARATION OF GENERAL INTEREST PURSUANT TO SECTION 140(2) OF THE COMPANIES ACT1993 AS AT 29 AUGUST 2007

Director Position Company

Carole Durbin Commissioner Earthquake Commission 
 Director Fidelity Life Assurance Company Limited 
 Director Southern Cross Medical Care Society 
 Trustee Southern Cross Hospital Trust 

John Baird Director and Shareholder 4PL Limited 
 Chair Motion Industries Limited 
 Director and Shareholder SIF Properties Limited 
 Trustee Foundation for Youth Development 
 Director Sleepyhead Manufacturing Company Limited 
 Director and Shareholder South Island Forklifts Limited 
 Member Waitangi Tribunal 

Caroline Ball Managing Director and Shareholder Strategic Developments Limited 
 Director and Shareholder QSP Limited 

Trevor Janes Director Abano Healthcare Limited 
 Investment Committee Member Accident Compensation Corporation 
 Director and Shareholder Selenium Corporation Limited 
 Chairman Trinity Hill Limited and vineyard owning subsidiaries 
 Director Watercare Services Limited 
 Director and Shareholder Rovert Investments Limited 
 Director Enprimeur Management Limited 

Sandy Maier Chairman and Shareholder Directions Understanding Governance Limited 
 Chairman Geon Group Limited and subsidiaries 
 Chairman 3 Media Group Limited 
 Director and Shareholder Maier Limited 
 Director McConnell Limited 
 Director Oyster Bay Vineyards 
 Director Perpetual Capital Management Limited 
 Director Fronde Synergy Limited 
 Director Taranaki Investment Management Limited 
 Director and Shareholder Tilda Holdings Limited 

Neil Ranford Director and Shareholder Rose’s Alterations Limited 
 Director Waitakere Properties Limited 
 Trustee NC and CG Ranford Family Trust 
 Trustee Upland Trust 
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Director Position Company

Sir Paul Reeves Director Pipitea Management Limited 
 Director Hui Taumata Trustee Limited 
 Director Tenth’s Village Limited & subsidiaries 
 Director PNBC Limited 
 Trustee Wellington Tenth’s Trust 
 Trustee Venture Taranaki Trust 
 Chancellor Auckland University of Technology  

Tania Simpson Director and Shareholder Kowhai Consulting Limited 
 Director Oceania Group Limited 
 Member Ruapehu, Whanganui, Rangitikei Regional  
  Partnership Tourism Board 
 Trustee Tui Trust 

Patrick Strange Chair Civil Engineering Advisory Board,   
  University of Auckland School of Engineering 
 Director and Shareholder Waitahoata Farms Limited 
 
Indemnity and Insurance
Mighty River Power Limited has resolved to indemnify Directors and employees for any costs or liabilities referred to in Section 162 
(3) and 162 (4) of the Companies Act 1993. The Company has arranged insurance for those Directors and employees in respect of any 
liability or costs referred to in Section 162 (5) of the Companies Act 1993.
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Employee Remuneration
During the reporting year, the Chief Executive’s remuneration was $932,080 which included base salary, a performance bonus for 2005 – 2006 
and a retention payment. The number of employees (including former employees) of Mighty River Power Limited and its subsidiaries, not 
being Directors or Chief Executive, who received remuneration and other benefits in excess of $100,000 were:

Remuneration Bands Number of Employees

$100,001 - $110,000 31 
$110,001 - $120,000 12
$120,001 - $130,000 9
$130,001 - $140,000 9
$140,001 - $150,000 5
$150,001 - $160,000 4
$160,001 - $170,000 5
$170,001 - $180,000 6
$180,001 - $190,000 1
$190,001 - $200,000 1
$200,000 - $210,000 1
$210,001 - $220,000 2
$230,001 - $240,000 3
$240,001 - $250,000 1
$250,001 - $260,000 1
$270,001 - $280,000 1
$330,001 - $340,000 1
$340,001 - $350,000 1
$350,001 - $360,000 1

Company Credit Rating
As at 30 June 2007, the Company had the following credit rating:

Standard & Poor’s  Short-term: [A-2] 
 Long-term:  [BBB +]
 Outlook:  Stable

Loans to Directors
There were no loans by the Group to Directors.

Drectors’ use of Information
There were no notices from Directors of the Group requesting to use Company information received in their capacity as Directors  
which would not otherwise have been available to them.

Events Subsequent to Balance Date
The Directors would like to draw your attention to Note 27 of the financial statements. The Directors are not aware of any other 
circumstance since the end of the year that has significantly or may significantly affect the operations of the Group.

Annual Report Certificate
This Annual Report is dated 29 August 2007 and is signed on behalf of the Board by:

Carole Durbin John Baird
Chair Deputy Chair
29 August 2007 29 August 2007

STATUTORY INFORMATION (CONTINUED)
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Directors
Carole Durbin (Chair)
BCom, LLB (Hons) FInstD, FAMINZ   

John Baird (Deputy Chair)
BSc, BA, MA (Hons), Rhodes Scholar, Dip Marketing (UK) 

Caroline Ball
BE Chem (Hons)   

Trevor Janes
BCA (Econ), CA  

Sandy Maier
BA, JD   

Neil Ranford
Dip Tchg, BSC, BE (Hons)  

Sir Paul Reeves
ONZ, GCMG, GCVO, QSO, KST.J, MA, LTh 

Tania Simpson
BA, MMM  

Patrick Strange
BE (Hons), PhD  

Executive Management
Doug Heffernan (Chief Executive)
BE (Hons), ME, PhD, FIPENZ  

Ken Bugden (Chief Financial Officer)
CA  

John Foote (General Manager Generation)
BSc, BE (Civil)   

Olwen Hyslop (Group Human Resource Manager)
BSc (Hons), MBA  

James Moulder (General Manager Sales)
BA, BCA   

Greg Raasch (General Manager Geothermal)
BSc, MSc, PE (Prof Engineer)  

Neil Williams (Group Strategist)
BA   

Company Secretary
Tony Nagel 
LLB, MComLaw (Hons)  

Registered Office
Level 19, 1 Queen Street, Auckland  
Telephone 09 308 8200  
Facsimile 09 308 8209  
Email enquiries@mightyriver.co.nz  
Website  www.mightyriverpower.co.nz 

Auditor
The Auditor-General pursuant to section
14 of the Public Audit Act 2001.

Warren Allen of Ernst & Young was appointed to perform  
the audit on behalf of the Auditor-General.

Solicitors
Chapman Tripp
Kensington Swan

Bankers
ANZ National Bank
ASB Bank
Citibank

DIRECTORY 
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